
CITY OF LEAVENWORTH 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
100 N. 5th Street 

Leavenworth, KS  66048 
 

REGULAR SESSION 
Monday, April 5, 2021 

6:00 p.m. 
 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the public hearing shall be closed for in-person attendance, excluding staff, 

commissioners and the applicant(s).  All persons wishing to comment shall use the GoToMeeting access 

instructions listed below for remote participation.  If you would like to submit questions to be read during the 

public hearing, email your comments or questions to jhurley@firstcity.org no later than 12:00 pm on April 5th.    

GoToMeeting access instructions: 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/928193141 (Please mute your microphone until instructed otherwise). 
OR 
Phone Number: +1 (571) 317-3122 
Access Code: 928-193-141 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 

1. Roll Call/Establish Quorum 

2. Approval of Minutes:  February 1, 2021 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 

1. DRAFT 2030 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
Present draft presentation of the Comprehensive Plan.   

2. 2021-08 REZ – 711 MARSHALL STREET (CUSHING MEMORIAL HOSPITAL) 
Public hearing has been rescheduled to Monday, May 5, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. 
 

3. 2021-10 SUB – THE BRANCHES ADDITION NO. 3 – PRELIMINARY PLAT 
Consider a preliminary plat for The Branches Addition No. 3. 

 
 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
 None 
 
ADJOURN 

 

mailto:jhurley@firstcity.org
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/928193141


 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  1 February 1, 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Commissioners Present Commissioners Absent    
Claude Wiedower Linda Bohnsack 

Sherry Hines Whitson  

James Diggs  

Joseph Burks City Staff Present 
Chris Murphy Julie Hurley 

Mike Burke Jackie Porter 

  

 
Mike Burke, Claude Wiedower, Joseph Burks, Chris Murphy, Julie Hurley and Jackie Porter were present in the 
commission chambers.  James Diggs and Sherry Hines Whitson participated remotely.  Linda Bohnsack was absent. 
 
Chairman Burke called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and noted a quorum was present.    

   
MOTION TO AMEND MINUTES PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED:  December 7, 2020 
                

Chairman Burke called for a motion to amend the December 7, 2020 meeting minutes.  Mr. Wiedower moved 
to accept the amended minutes as presented, seconded by Mr. Murphy and approved by a vote of 6-0.   

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  January 4, 2021 
 

Chairman Burke asked for comments or a motion on the minutes presented for approval: January 4, 2021.  Mr. 
Burks moved to approve the minutes as presented, seconded by Mr. Murphy and approved by a vote of 6-0.  

 
         

OLD BUSINESS: 

None 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1. ELECTION OF OFFICERS  
Selection of board members to hold the position of Chairperson and Vice Chairperson for 
the Planning Commission. 
 
Mr. Wiedower suggested keeping the status quo.  Chairman Burke said he is willing to 
stay on as Chairman until he moves but will need to step down at that time. 
 

CITY OF LEAVENWORTH PLANNING COMMISSION 
COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

100 N 5th Street, Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

REGULAR SESSION 
Monday, February 1, 2021 

6:00 PM 
 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  2 February 1, 2021 

 

Planning Director Julie Hurley stated if the commission chooses to keep Mr. Burke as 
Chairman and Mr. Wiedower as Vice Chairman that will stay in effect until Mr. Burke 
moves, at which time, Mr. Wiedower will become Chairman and the commission would 
elect a new Vice Chairman.   
 
Mr. Murphy moved to keep the status quo, seconded by Ms. Whitson and approved by a 
vote of 6-0. 

 
2. REVIEW BYLAWS 

Planning Director Julie Hurley stated with a few new commissioners, staff has added the 
bylaws for informational purposes, unless there are any changes the commissioners 
would like to propose.   

The commissioners reviewed the bylaws and there is consensus no changes are needed. 

3. 2021-04 SUB – WOOD’S ADDITION, FINAL PLAT 
Consider a final plat for Wood’s Addition.  

Chairman Burke called for the staff report. 

Planning Director Julie Hurley stated the subject property is owned by Zam, LLC and Charles M. Wood 
Revocable Trust, LLC, plat prepared by Richard L. Mattson of Midland Surveying.  The applicant is requesting 
approval of a two lot final plat for the Wood’s Addition Plat.  The property is zoned NBD, Neighborhood 
Business District, and currently has an operating gas station and single drive thru carwash.  

The subject property is a combination of 2.5 acres in size, and is currently two separate lots part of the Bain 
City Subdivision Block 5 portion of Lot 3 & all of Lot 4.  The site lies to the west of Hughes Road, directly south 
of Limit Street.  The Wood’s Addition plat consists of two lots, which will reflect an increase of 1,600 square 
feet to the current developed lot.  The addition of 1,600 sqft of land to the developed lot will be added to the 
southeast corner of the property.  The structure located at the south of the property, the carwash, has been 
proposed to be renovated with adding an addition to the south to accommodate a drive-thru liquor store.  
The additional 1,600 sqft will allow for the proposed addition to the structure to meet the setback 
requirement set forth in the Development Regulations for a NBD zoning district.  

The proposed plat has been reviewed by the Public Works Department, no issues were identified. 

Staff recommends approval of the Wood’s Addition Final Plat with the condition that the submitted plat reflect 
appropriate lot numbers for the Wood’s Addition Plat. 

ACTION/OPTIONS: 

 Approve the Preliminary Plat 

 Deny the Preliminary Plat 

 Table the issue for additional information/consideration.   

Chairman Burke called for questions about the staff report or questions for the applicant. 

Mr. Murphy stated it appears as though they have already started renovation on the carwash. 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  3 February 1, 2021 

 

Ms. Hurley responded a carwash is allowed in the district and permits have been issued.  The Wood’s Addition 
is just to change the lot lines to accommodate for the carwash building. 

The applicant, Moize “Sam” Morani, stated he is just trying to expand his business.   

With no other questions or comments, Chairman Burke called for a motion.  Mr. Murphy moved to approve 
the Wood’s Addition final plat, seconded by Ms. Whitson and approved by a vote of 6-0.   

With no other business, Chairman Burke adjourned the meeting. 

The meeting adjourned at 6:11 p.m. 

Minutes taken by Administrative Assistant Michelle Baragary via recorded meeting. 

 

 

 





  

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 1  

 LEAVENWORTH, 
KANSAS 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
Chapter 1: Community Identity 

 
Historic and Cultural Resources 

 
Goal 1: Preserve our welcoming and inclusive community that celebrates its past, plans for its 
future and provides opportunities for all people.  

• What historic and cultural assets should be preserved? 
• How do we preserve our historical and cultural resources? 
• Which resources and assets are priority? 

 
Recommendation: Conserve and reuse historic resources with exceptional value, quality or that 
illustrate Leavenworth's heritage and history. 
 
Context: 
Since the early 1800s, local governments have preserved their community’s historic places. In 1906, the 
federal government passed the Antiquities Act granting government agencies the power to protect and 
manage historic assets. The National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) of 1966 protects historic and 
cultural resources from demolition related to federally funded infrastructure and urban renewal 
projects.   
 
The NHPA established the National Register of Historic Places and gave higher authority to state 
governments by authorizing the creation of State Historic Preservation Offices (SHPO). Eighteen Kansas 
communities meet the requirements established by the National Park Service (NPS) to become a 
Certified Local Government (CLG). These entities enact local historic preservation ordinances and 
establish local historic preservation programs. CLGs have a competitive advantage over non-CLGs when 
applying for federal preservation grants, as they have a stronger voice when nominating their 
community’s properties for National Register designation. The CLGs have made great strides to become 
leaders in community development by strengthening their commitment to this program. 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 2  

 
Will include photos of these locations with the map 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 3  

Leavenworth’s rich inventory of historic structures, districts, 
and other significant resources aren’t limited to formally 
designated properties. The Kansas Historical Society keeps 
records of all survey materials within the state of Kansas. 
These surveys can include property information such as date 
of construction, original use of the building or property, the 
architect and more to help determine if the property is eligible 
for historic designation. Based on information provided by the 
Kansas Historical Society, Leavenworth's historic and cultural 
resources are in good condition and do not suffer from wear 
and neglect as much as those in other cities. Leavenworth is 
one of four Kansas municipalities (Riley County, Lawrence and 
Wichita) to become a Preserve America Community, earning 
the designated in 2005, for its eight historic districts—more 
than any city in Kansas.  
 

 
 

 
 
Leavenworth’s 45-block downtown was primarily used for commerce in the 1850s. The Downtown 
Historic District includes 65 contributing properties. The style of these structures is predominantly red 
brick with cast iron and terra cotta features. Parking and demolitions replaced many of the original 
downtown structures, and some remain partially intact due to fires, tornados and overall neglect. 
Reflective of downtown’s unique heritage, more than half (55 percent) of Leavenworth's historic 
resources are made of brick. 
 

Contributing vs.  
Non-Contributing  
Historic Resources 

 
Contributing is a term that describes 
resources located in historically 
designated districts that contain high 
levels of architectural or historical integrity 
due to age, retention of original features 
or affiliation with significant people or 
events. In short, they contribute to the 
historic district. 
 

Non-Contributing resources don’t 
contribute to the significance or character 
of an area due to lack of age, lack of 
retention of original integrity, or the 
insensitive alteration of the building over 
time. In short, they do not contribute to 
the historic district. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 4  

Insight: 
Since the 1970s, evidence shows that historic preservation resulted 
in robust community and economic development benefits. 
According to the National Park Service, 258 Federal Historic Tax 
Credit projects and $123,315,315 in Federal Historic Tax Credit 
funds received between fiscal year 2002–19 leveraged an 
estimated $709 million.  
 
In 1995, Leavenworth established the Leavenworth Main Street 
Program, Inc., a 501c3 nonprofit organization. The Main Street 
approach combines revitalization, economic activity and 
preservation concepts at the local level. Partnerships with 
economic development groups, business owners and the City 
resulted in $71 million (2016) for downtown reinvestment. 
 
Benefits of Historic Preservation: 

• CREATION of local historic districts can stabilize and increase property values. 
• INCREASE in property values for these districts tends to surpass those for the wider community 

or City at large. 
• REHABILITATION of historic buildings creates more jobs and local business than new 

construction. These projects are more labor-intensive, requiring high-skilled and specialized 
laborers. Improvements encourage additional neighborhood investment and a higher return on 
municipal investment.  

• TOURISM in the heritage industry is a significant economic driver that typically draws tourists 
who stay longer and spend more. 

• INCREASES the supply of affordable and centrally located housing.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: National Park Service 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 5  

How to support decision-makers when challenging and controversial issues 
arise that could potentially affect a community’s character? 
 
Elected and appointed officials often face scenarios like these: 

• Demolishing an old building or group of buildings to make way for 
new development such as a chain drugstore or “big box” retailer. 

• Constructing a new addition on an existing building. 
• Constructing a new building in an older neighborhood. 
• Replacing historic building elements such as windows, doors, 

porches, roofs, or original siding materials. 

Elected officials often look to comprehensive plans for guidance. Yet, many of 
these plans do not provide policy recommendations that address the above 
question. Existing physical conditions, relative importance in history, 
proposed use and mandated code requirements often guide the treatment of 
historic structures. Integrating the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Treatment of Historic Properties with local design guidelines can help to 
clarify broad language. The National Park Service recommends adding 
interpretive guidelines to city code that addresses all four (4) treatments of 
historic properties. 

Leavenworth Municipal code Sec. 9.16.E.2.  
Specific design criteria for exterior alterations of landmarks or historic district 
properties shall be based on the U.S. Secretary of the Interior's Standards for 
Rehabilitation as published in section 36, Code of Federal Regulations, part 67 
as revised from time to time, and by further reference to such specific design 
criteria as the commission may require. 

With a new wave of properties reaching eligibility requirements, the City 
will need to conduct additional cultural resource surveys. Properties 
generally must be 50 years or older to receive historic consideration. There 
are rare eligibility exceptions made for buildings less than 50 years old if 
they possess exceptional significance. Currently, neighborhoods and 
properties built in 1970 and before are eligible for designation 
consideration, based on historical significance; buildings constructed before 
1990 will be eligible in 2040. Municipalities must be selective and strategic 
about what to save and what to build. As Leavenworth continues to grow 
and redevelop decision-makers should ask: 

Are we building neighborhoods and structures today that future 
generations will value and appreciate enough to preserve? 

 
 
 
 
 

Four Treatments for 
Historic Structures: 

The Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards for the Treatment of 
Historic Properties consists of 

four treatment options required 
for National Parks Service 
Grants-in-Aid programs. 

Preservation 
This method requires the highest 
levels of historical retention. Work 
generally focuses on the 
continuous maintenance and 
repair of historic materials rather 
than extensive replacement and 
new construction. 
 
Rehabilitation 
Includes repairs, alterations, and 
additions while preserving key 
historic features. Deteriorated 
historic features are repaired 
rather than replaced. 
 
Restoration 
Accurately depicting the form, 
features and character of a 
property as it appeared at a 
particular time and removing 
inconsistent elements from other 
eras. The process for selecting a 
restoration period should be 
documented and justified. 
 
Reconstruction 
Recreating or replicating a 
vanished or non-surviving element 
of a structure should reflect its 
appearance during a specific time 
period, for interpretive purposes.  
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 6  

Trends & Foresight: 

People of All Ages Want to Celebrate Culture, History and Authentic Places 

Historic preservation is one of the longest-running 
activist movements in the United States. The modern 
historic preservation movement focuses on people-
centered preservation efforts rather than places. 

Cultural and historic resources enhance a community's 
attractiveness as a desirable place to live and work, and 
helps give meaning to a building or area of town by 
providing a sense of place reminiscent of earlier years. 

Historic resources are districts, buildings, sites, structures 
or objects that exemplify a period of history. In addition to age, established criteria determines the 
historical value—association with significant historical events or people; representation of a particular 
architectural or cultural style, type or method of construction; and, yielding information important to 
history or prehistory.  

What we think of as “historic” is changing. Buildings more than 50 years old can receive historic 
consideration for preservation purposes, while a renewed interest in modernizing and preserving 
structures from the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s (primarily ranch-style homes) is trending for several 
reasons:  

• Ranch houses are affordable entry-level homes for younger home buyers in many markets. 
• The single-story floorplans of ranch homes attract older buyers looking for accessible housing to 

safely navigate.  
• Open floor plans are desirable in today's market. 
• Maintenance costs are lower than for homes built before the 1950s. 
• Many neighborhoods featuring ranch-style houses are now well-established with large trees. 
• Repairs and upgrades to heating and cooling systems, wiring, plumbing, windows, doors and 

other building systems are easier to make in homes built during this era. 
• Ranch-style homes represent uniquely American architecture, and a variety of possible owner 

modifications allow residents to put their unique mark on these sometimes-repetitive styles. 

Ways to Preserve our Heritage 
Preserve America is a federal program that encourages and supports community efforts to preserve 
and enjoy a community’s unique cultural and natural heritage. The program's goals include: 

• greater shared knowledge about the nation's past,  
• strengthened regional identities and local pride,  
• increased local participation in preserving heritage assets, and  
• support for local economic vitality.  

Benefits of being a designated community through the Preserve America includes regional and national 
recognition, grants, awards, and policy direction for federal agencies.  
 
Municipalities implement some of these strategies to protect historic resources:  

“Millennials are more than twice as 
likely (52%) to prefer shopping or 
eating in historic downtowns and 

places with historic appeal over malls 
and planned commercial districts or 

recently constructed places.” 
— National Trust for Historic 

Preservation Survey 2017 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 7  

• State and federal historic tax credits 
• Local main street programs 
• Conservation districts 
• Historic districts 
• Tax abatement 
• Education and outreach 
• Preservation planning 
• Historic preservation programming and events 
• Individual designation at the local, state and national level 

Preserving cultural and historic resources attract and retain a growing population looking for authentic 
experiences, affordable housing, a strong sense of community and an improved quality of life.  

 
Strategy 1: Promote historic resources and the values of historic preservation. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Improve social media presence of historic resources 
• Emphasize the importance of documenting specific cultural groups such as African Americans, 

American Indians and Hispanics.  
• Plan and promote a special activity during National Preservation Week in May of each year.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Develop newsletter content to spread awareness and keep recipients informed of historic and 
cultural news and events.  

• Highlight cases in which preservation has increased property owner options rather than restricted 
them.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Consider adopting a policy aimed at the restoration and preservation of districts and structures 
that have local historic significance.  

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Collaborate with education institutions and Leavenworth School District to integrate historic 
preservation into the classroom. 

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 8  

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Expand signage, historical markers, and preservation awards to raise awareness.  
 
 
Strategy 2: Preserve our historic resources and assets creating places people want to live in, work in, 
gather in and visit to learn more about our community's history. 

 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Provide education to the public on history of the community, historic structures, historic sites and 
historic figures.  

• Coordinate public outreach opportunities to include historic preservation opportunities. 
• Protect and build community understanding of significant cultural and historic sites and resources.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Maintain open communication with Preservation Commission of plans, impending actions, or 
engagement opportunities that might affect historic preservation.  

• Consider the skills of historian, architectural historian, or archeologist when appointing members 
of the Planning Commission and Preservation Commission.  

• Ensure demolition process allows sufficient time to potentially save historically significant 
structures.  

 
Plan Development 

• Prepare and adopt a Historic Preservation Master Plan to guide local decision makers.  
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Continue to use tools and resources from the Kansas State Historic Preservation Office, Kansas 
Preservation Alliance and Kansas Historical Society.  

• Develop a tool that allows residents to offer input on places they want to preserve.  
• Establish and maintain a historic database with research, photos, and survey information.  

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Hold an annual historic preservation workshop to answer questions, assist with paperwork and 
documentation.  

• Maintain a list of local contractors that have experience with historic properties or restoration 
specialties.  



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 9  

• Continue to support the Preservation Commission and their efforts for preservation in 
Leavenworth.  

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Promote regular maintenance, develop minimum maintenance, and ensure permits are reviewed 
under the Kansas Preservation Law.  

 

Strategy 3: Incentivize historic preservation. 

Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Expand funding mechanisms to include tax abatement, conservation districts and crowdsourcing.  
• Highlight cases in which preservation has increased property owner options than restricted them.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Implement smart building codes and land use policies that facilitate the preservation treatment 
of historic structures and other cultural resources.  

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Assist the Leavenworth School District and educational institutions with associated projects to 
help fundraise for local historic preservation efforts.  

• Work with local lending institutions to establish low-interest loans and other incentives to 
encourage property maintenance and preservation.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Explore historic survey and assessment opportunities for existing facilities and districts.  
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• Encourage renovations of public facilities to decrease new construction.  
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 

 

Sense of Community 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
10  

 
Goal 1: Preserve our welcoming and inclusive community that celebrates its past, plans for its 
future and provides opportunities for all people.  

• What makes our community unique? 
• How do we create a community that celebrates, welcomes and supports cultural amenities and 

resources? 
• How do we create a community that is supportive, welcoming and inclusive? 
• How do we identify ourselves? Do we identify ourselves as a military town, a historic town, etc.? 

Recommendation: Increase the opportunities of all ages and abilities in our community.  

Context: 
Sense of community is influenced by a city’s physical environment as well as its social fabric. Unique 
architecture, tree lined streets, historic downtowns, cultural events and festivals are examples of the 
tangible things that work together to create desirable places to live, work, and visit. People are 
attracted to places where they feel connected and accepted. Cities that are welcoming and support 
cultural amenities and resources draw residents and visitors that support the local economy.  

America’s population is becoming younger, older and more culturally diverse. The United States 
population is estimated to expand by more than 100 million over the next 40 years. Immigration will 
continue to be a major force in U.S. life. The United Nations estimates that two million people per year 
will move from poorer nations to developed nations during the next 40 years, and more than half of 
those will come to the United States, the world’s preferred destination for educated, skill migrants.  

Insight: 
Leavenworth is an historic city with a small-town atmosphere. As the first established city in the state 
of Kansas, Leavenworth enjoys an abundance of significant history and heritage. Leavenworth's 
connection and critical role in settlement of western America stand out, and remaining structures from 
the early 1800s and 1900s are representative of the city's past. Large vintage homes from 
Leavenworth’s original settlers are still intact as well as buildings from the historic downtown. The City 
of Leavenworth organizes programming and events to commemorate these historic buildings and sites 
such as historic wayside walking and driving tours.  

Notable Annual Events and Programs in Leavenworth include:  

• Haunted Depot  
• Farmer’s Market  
• Main Street Summer Concert Series 
• Fourth of July Downtown Parade 
• St. Patty’s Day Downtown Parade 
• Veterans Day Parade 
• Holiday Lights Tour 
• Camp Leavenworth 
• ART WALK Shawnee Street  



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
11  

Located approximately 30 minutes from the Kansas City Metro, Leavenworth is in close proximity to 
amenities offered by the larger bi-state metropolitan region, but also draws outside visitors to town 
with its own historic and cultural attractions. Leavenworth is home to the University of Saint Mary, the 
Dwight D. Eisenhower Veterans Affairs Medical Center, the U.S. Federal Penitentiary and Fort 
Leavenworth.  

Historic Town 
The area’s rich cultural heritage runs deep in the 
roots of Leavenworth. The city’s historical 
connections to the Santa Fe and Oregon Trails 
date back to the 1800s. There are two primary 
architectural styles of historic structures in 
Leavenworth: Colonial Revival and Utilitarian. 
Colonial Revival styles make up 11.3 percent of 
structures, while 10 percent of structures are 
Utilitarian.  

 

 

 

 

 

Famous historical figures who spent considerable time in Leavenworth: 

• Buffalo Bill  
• Colonel Henry Leavenworth 
• George C. Marshall 
• Dwight D. Eisenhower 
• Douglas MacArthur 
• Colin Powell 
• George Patton 

The first Kansas territorial legislature incorporated the City of Leavenworth in 1855. Lesser known, the 
Leavenworth Constitution of 1858 was one of the most radical constitutions ever drafted for the 
western territories. Since Leavenworth’s constitution included freed African American slaves as 
citizens, the federal government never formally adopted the document. Leavenworth was a known 
refuge for African American slaves with help from abolitionists during and around the Civil War. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
12  

Leavenworth’s rich history is something to be remembered and celebrated, especially as we remember 
the interesting historical figures who once called Leavenworth home. Leavenworth could leverage this 
history to create a festival or event that promotes heritage and history, while learning about who and 
what Leavenworth was long ago.  

Military Town 
Built in 1827, Fort Leavenworth is the 
oldest permanent settlement in the 
state of Kansas. Fort Leavenworth is 
home to the Combined Arms Center 
the U.S. Army Command and General 
Staff College, National Simulation 
Center and the Army Corrections 
Complex. It was also once known as the 
“Intellectual Center of the Army”. The 
Fort accounts for nearly half of the 
city’s population and provides 36 
percent of civilian jobs. According to a 
2018 statistical report, military families 
also occupy 1,498 single-family homes called “family quarters” in the city. As home to military officers 
and high-ranking military personnel, Leavenworth is known as the "Best Hometown in the Army." 

Completed in the mid-1920s, 
Leavenworth Penitentiary held its first 
prisoners—disciplined military 
personnel—in 1903. Until 2005, it was 
the largest maximum-security prison in 
the U.S. After 2005, it was downgraded 
to a medium-security prison and now 
holds nearly 1,670 inmates. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
13  

Diversity 
The Kansas City region hosts many culturally diverse 
festivals and events, including the Diversity Initiative 
by ArtsKC, the Ethnic Enrichment Festival, and the 
Gay Pride KC parade. The Leavenworth 
population is about 75 percent White, 12 
percent of that identifying as Hispanic or 
Latino, and 14 percent Black or African 
American. As Leavenworth becomes 
increasingly diverse, there will be a need for 
more localized events that celebrate diversity. 
Leavenworth can add diverse events to their annual 
event calendar that celebrate Hispanic heritage, 
LGBTQ pride, and African American history.  

 

 

 

 

 

Trends & Foresight: 
Welcoming newcomers brings diversity into communities and provides economic, cultural and social 
benefits, and leads to a more versatile and skilled workforce. The social benefits of a diverse and 
equitable community include more voices to weigh-in on essential decisions that are inclusive of the 
entire population. Inviting different voices also leads to fewer complaints about discrimination and 
harassment. This is called having a sense of community, where people feel comfortable and welcome in 
the place where they live. This is especially important now, following a period in which the local 
community and nation have experienced shelter-in-place orders and social distancing due to COVID-19, 
where people may be feeling lonely. However, according to the American Planning Association, this 
also allows us to think more creatively in terms of place-make in our communities using art and cultural 
knowledge to improve social and economic conditions in Leavenworth. Bridging planning, arts and 
cultural understanding and using this partnership to an advantage, allows planners to drive economic 
development, preserve cultural and historic understandings, correct inequalities, and create a healthier 
community.  

Local governments that support inclusion and equity in their communities: 

• Improve opportunities to recruit long term residents 
• Promote an entrepreneurial spirit by welcoming residents who may start new businesses 
• Report increased consumption of local products 
• Support local goods and services that drive the community’s economic growth and 

prosperity. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
14  

Diversity 
As Leavenworth becomes more diverse, communities must create a welcoming environment for new 
populations. The World Health Organization states, "societies that enable citizens to play a full and 
useful role in the social, economic, and cultural 
life of their society will be healthier than those 
where people face insecurity, exclusion, and 
deprivation." Inclusivity and equitable choices 
will help Leavenworth's citizens enjoy a higher 
quality of life and feel more involved in the 
community. Inclusion at the community level is 
vital because it leverages diversity for good, and 
makes people feel supported and heard, no 
matter how they identify. 

Diverse communities that lack strong bonds can 
benefit from strengthened public spaces. Public 
spaces such as plazas, parks and downtown 
squares provide opportunities for social 
interaction. The term “placemaking” refers to a 
particular area that instill a strong sense of place.  
A 2008-10 study by the Knight Foundation, called 
Soul of the Community, found that social 
offerings, openness of spaces and design are 
primary drivers for creating community 
attachment to a location.  

Placemaking and creating community 
attachments to locations are important for places 
like Leavenworth. According to Project for Public 
Spaces, effective placemaking capitalizes on 
community assets, inspiration, and potential. This 
creates a space with qualities that contribute to 
healthy living, community happiness, and well-
being.  

 

 

 

Goal 1: Preserve our welcoming and inclusive community that celebrates its past, plans for its 
future and provides opportunities for all people.  

Strategy: Encourage all residents to participate fully in social, cultural and economic life of the 
community. 

Diverse communities with one shared vision can do five 
things:  

1) Increase resources and funding possibilities. 
2) Share strengths and skills within the 

community. 
3) Reduce duplication of services to improve 

effectiveness. 
4) Break down barriers to community cohesion.  
5) Promote positive community change and 

development. 

Communities must ask questions about themselves and 
how inclusion of diverse populations can impact how 
their city operates. Questions to ask include: 

• Who is currently involved in planning and 
decision making?  

• Who is not involved? 
• Should they be involved?  
• Are there barriers to participation?  
• How can we initiate partnerships with groups 

of people not yet involved?  
• What resources does the community need to 

succeed? 
• Are current regional trends surrounding 

diversity and inclusion positive?  

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
15  

Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Implement citizen and leadership academies that help people more successfully participate in 
and influence decision-making in the community. 

 
Practice Improvements 

• x 
 
Plan Development 

• Conduct a Library facilities plan/feasibility study that includes a cultural center/maker’s space 
component (performing arts space, av recording, study rooms, etc.)  

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Encourage volunteerism and mentorship among receiving community members to help build 
resources, capacity and knowledge of services. 

• Explore partnership opportunities for tourism and visitor promotion.  
• Collaborate with Downtown Main Street Program for community events.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Develop an existing gathering place inventory and assessment using the placemaking Power of 10 
strategy. Areas include comfort, sociability, use and activity, and linkages.  

• Develop and conduct a bi-annual citizen survey 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Continue to promote Downtown Leavenworth as a unique community gathering space for 
residents and visitors.  

• Activate outdoor spaces in Downtown Leavenworth to bring people of all backgrounds and 
generations together. 

• Grow partnerships with veterans and civic groups to encourage placemaking through 
volunteerism. 

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Develop Riverfront Park as a destination and major attraction and gathering place. 
• Create places throughout the community and neighborhoods where people can gather. 

 

 

Strategy 2:  Embrace and celebrate the community's diversity and respect differences in race, 
ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, age, abilities and beliefs. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
16  

Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Offer annual events that celebrates Leavenworth's people, history and culture.  
• Support community dialogues to help all community members voice their concerns, find 

common ground and set the state for a more inclusive community. 
• Improve access to city information and services for people of all disabilities, cultural 

backgrounds and for those who are not English speakers. 
 

Practice Improvements 
• Evaluate recruitment practices regularly and look for new ways to attract diverse applicants and fill 

gaps in representation.  
 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Implement practices that ensure local boards, commissions and civic organizations have leadership 
that is representative of local demographics and work with these groups to create a welcoming 
culture.  

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Convene cross-sector collaborations to build and strengthen networks that promote inclusion, 
find common ground and set the stage for a more inclusive, intergenerational community.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Summarize and report demographics of staff and leadership to identify gaps in representation.  
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Conduct regular training for City staff on issues such as the meaning of equity, unconscious bias 
and how to create a supportive workplace for all.  

• Offer community-wide training on the issues mentioned above.  
• Continue and expand as necessary public safety programs that promote positive community 

interaction and involvement.  
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 

 

Unique Attractions 

Goal: Preserve our welcoming and inclusive community that celebrates its past and 
provides opportunities for all people. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
17  

• How do we entice people to experience our unique attractions and Downtown? 
• What types of events should we offer or expand? 
• What types of amenities, spaces and facilities are needed?   

Objective: Increase the number of visitors through unique attractions and community 
events.  

 
Context: 
A diverse cultural, artistic, and recreational landscape is imperative when seeking to advance the quality 
of life in a community. A variety of unique attractions not only draws outside residents and visitors to a 
place, but also fosters and strengthens its sense of community. 
  
Cultural and historic resources enhance a community’s attractiveness and appeal as a healthy and vibrant 
place to live and work, while adding meaning to a building or area of the community. These assets help to 
create a sense of welcoming place that attracts and brings residents and tourists together.  
 
 
Insight 
According to the Leavenworth Convention and Visitors Bureau, there is something for all ages to enjoy in 
the city. People can experience the arts, agritourism, history, shopping, recreational activities and 
nightlife. Leavenworth offers a diverse variety of attractions, including festivals, events and activity 
centers such as the ones mentioned below. These regional and national examples are spaces where 
residents and visitors can experience and celebrate music, art, and culture not represented in average 
daily interactions throughout the community. This could help attract people 
to Leavenworth and promote the city’s image as a diverse, cultural, and 
historic place. Festivals in public places such as streets, parks and more, 
provide opportunities for underrepresented populations to express 
themselves in public spaces.  
 
Historic Downtown Leavenworth and 
the Leavenworth Main Street 
Program value a modern lifestyle in a 
historic downtown. The Leavenworth 
Main Street Program is dedicated to 
keeping Leavenworth’s historic 
Downtown economically healthy 
through historic preservation and 
revitalization. Downtown 
Leavenworth has tons to offer, 
including shopping, dining, wellness 
activities, and spiritual activities. 
There are even plenty of residential 
and commercial real estate 
opportunities in historic Downtown.  
 
Leavenworth’s many historic and 
cultural assets, arts community, and 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
18  

parades and events are prime attractions for residents and visitors. University of Saint Mary also attracts 
visitors to Leavenworth in the form of prospective students or family and friends visiting current students. 
 
Leavenworth should consider leveraging the region’s best-known and popular events to fit the needs of 
Leavenworth residents as a way to create a more unique experience in the city. Leavenworth 
stakeholders could also become involved with the planning and implementation of these events to 
influence the benefits they provide to local residents. For example, the American Royal Rodeo celebrates 
the Kansas City region’s rich agricultural heritage through competitions, agricultural education and 
entertainment. The Crossroads Music Fest (CMF) is a showcase of Kansas City’s diverse artists, musicians 
and music venues. The Kansas City Arts Council, known as ArtsKC, is committed to supporting the region’s 
arts organizations with resources that encourage increased diversification in programming and access. 
Other regional festivals are listed below.  
 
The city could replicate all of these events on the community level with a “local twist” to benefit 
Leavenworth’s tourism efforts. Targeted marketing strategies implemented throughout the wider region 
would increase the likelihood of robust attendance from audiences who reside outside the city, or are 
already planning to visit.  
 
Trends & Foresight: 
The COVID-19 pandemic impacted many events, festivals and general tourism due gathering and travel 
restrictions. As Leavenworth plans for future events; amenities and facilities need to be considered as for 
what is needed for resiliency against potential future pandemics. It may take a few years, but people will 
once again attend events, go to museums and feel comfortable in groups. Attractions and events will 
once again be a draw for regional residents. Right now, Leavenworth can focus on the importance of 
multi-use outdoor spaces that allow people to spend more time outside and with fewer people. Spaces 
like playgrounds, trails, and ball fields are increasingly important for the quality of life and well-being of 
Leavenworth residents and tourism.  
 
Technology also provides the opportunity for access to goods, services and entertainment to people of all 
ages. Through high-quality entertainment and events people can experience entertainment at a less 
expensive and more convenient rate. As the population trends toward the younger generation 
Leavenworth should consider creative uses of technology, such as museums and other attractions can 
provide virtual tours and scenic/historical walks to maintain a more consistent revenue stream in times of 
economic uncertainty.  
 
Expanding the existing programming in Leavenworth that is inclusive, exciting, and celebrates local 
cultural history is crucial to sustained growth. Leveraging Leavenworth’s unique attractions is essential for 
enhancing a community’s attractiveness and appeal as a healthy and vibrant place to live, work and visit.  
 
 
Strategy 1: Expand unique attractions and amenities in Leavenworth to draw residents downtown 
and promote tourism. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Increase promotion of Downtown Leavenworth’s attractions, amenities and events.  
• Continue to promote facilities and activities through the Convention Visitors Bureau and other local 

and regional partners.  



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
19  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Include diverse voices in the planning of events and creation of attractions to ensure they meet 
the expectations of all people.  

• Create a social media presence that encourages people to attend events and visit attractions. 

Plan Development 
• Create a yearly calendar of events so people know what is happening and have time to plan on 

attending. 
 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• Adjust local policy to make it easier for people to host diverse events and attract people to the 

city. 
 

Partnership & Collaboration 
• Collaborate with well-established regional festivals and events to bring unique experiences to 

the city. 
• Work with the Missouri Department of Transportation to improve wayfinding and marketing 

signage for Leavenworth at State Route 92 and 45.  
• Collaborate with the Convention Visitors Bureau for updated and modernized branding of 

promotional materials and website.  
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Create programing and events for all people, conduct a survey to gain an understanding of 
what people are interested in seeing in the city. 

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

•  
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Create a designated festival and event space that is accessible for all, no matter their ability or 
background. 
 



 

 

Leavenworth 2030 Plan DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 1  

 
 

LEAVENWORTH, KS 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Chapter 2: Built Environment 
 

Neighborhoods & Housing 
 

Goal: Leavenworth will be a place that attracts and supports a wide range of population groups in 
diverse neighborhoods that are well-maintained, clean, safe, and efficiently functioning. 

• What are the housing needs? Gaps in price points? 
• What keeps us from building infill housing? 
• How do we revitalize neighborhoods? 
• How do we best categorize the highest and best use of different neighborhoods? Which areas 

should we invest in first? 
• What new housing is needed? 
• How can the City encourage the development of quality, affordable housing to meet the needs of 

the community? 
• How do we better connect our people in each neighborhood to places they want to go? 
• How do we support aging in place? 
• How do we attract, encourage and support diversity in housing choices? 

 
Recommendation: Establish community neighborhoods that are attractive, connected, and offer 
diverse housing options.  
 
Context: 
A variety of housing options are needed to meet the changing needs of communities including family size, 
lifestyle, income and physical ability. Communities that offer a variety of housing types succeed in 
attracting and retaining residents.  
 
Market Analysis – County Population  
The following population figures represent status quo projections based on available data and do not 
account for any efforts by the City and region to counteract these anticipated trends. Proactive measures 
and strategic planning implementation put in place by Leavenworth and other regional partners can 
positively impact the population growth into the future. 
 
As the first city in Kansas, Leavenworth already had a relatively sizeable population of 7,430 by the 1860 
Census. Six of every ten residents of Leavenworth County lived in the city. Since then, Leavenworth has 
added some 28,500 residents for a 2019 U.S. Census estimate of 35,930 who make up 44 percent of the 
county’s population.  
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 2  

But peak population in Leavenworth was in 1990 at 38,500 which has declined six percent over the last 30 
years. Meanwhile, the entire county has grown 27 percent since 1990 to over 81,750 people. 

 
 
The City of Leavenworth peaked as a share of the county at 61.4 percent as recently as 1980, its highest 
historic share. In 1980, the City's population was 33,660 compared to 21,150 in the rest of the county. 
Since 1980, Leavenworth has experienced a net increase of about 2,300 residents despite recent declines, 
but the rest of the county added 25,650 residents. Thus, the City's share of the County's population 
decreased to 44.0 percent by 2019.  
 

 
 
Wichita State University (WSU) published population projections for every County in Kansas in 2016 
covering 2014 - to 204. Leavenworth County Is projected to grow by 48 percent in those fifty years to 

58
.9

%

55
.1

%

51
.1

%

51
.4

%

50
.6

%

47
.0

%

44
.0

%

40
.9

% 46
.8

%

48
.6

%

45
.4

%

47
.1

%

61
.4

%

59
.8

%

51
.6

%

46
.2

%

44
.0

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

1860 1870 1880 1890 1900 1910 1920 1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2019

Share of Leavenworth County's Population in City of Leavenworth
1860 to 2019

Source: U.S. Census Bureau



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 3  

116,300 residents. WSU's projections are on the aggressive side as its projection for 2019 was 83,600 
residents. The U.S. Census Bureau released Its estimates of the County's population in late May 2020 
showing 81,760 residents, about 98 percent of WSU's.  
 

 
 
Market Analysis - Population Growth Rates 
Leavenworth County's among several County's within the Kansas City and Lawrence Metro areas. 
Leavenworth County's 48 percent growth projection between 2014 and 2064 Is notably slower than 
projected for Douglas County (91%) and Johnson (73%) Counties, but well ahead of the average growth 
rate, 22 percent for all of Kansas. Meanwhile Wyandotte County is projected to have very slight increases 
for a few years but eventually losing two percent of Its 214 population by 2064.  

 
Market Analysis - City Population 
Population projections for the City of Leavenworth are based on a range of shares of the County's 
population as projected by WSU. In 2019, the City had 44 percent of the County's population. The "high" 
growth scenario assumes that Leavenworth will once again reach its 1980-to-1990 peak share of the 

78
,8

00

83
,6

00

88
,2

00

92
,8

00

97
,5

00

10
2,

00
0

10
5,

80
0

10
9,

00
0

11
1,

60
0

11
4,

00
0

11
6,

30
0

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

2014 2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 2044 2049 2054 2059 2064

Population Projections 2014-2064
Leavenworth County

Source:  Wichita State University 2016

148

98

191

173

122

90

110

130

150

170

190

210

2014 2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 2044 2049 2054 2059 2064

Projected Population Growth Rates 2014-2064
Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Johnson, Douglas Counties

and State of Kansas (Indexed 2014 = 100)
Source:  Wichita State University 2016



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 4  

County's population of about 60 percent by 2040. This would result in 61,700 residents for a 21-year 
growth rate of 71 percent. Meanwhile, the County's projected growth would be about 22 percent.  
 
The "low" projection assumes that the City's share of the County will continue to decline at the same rate 
as since 2000. The City's population would not change, and its share of the county would decline from 44 
percent in 2019 to 35 percent In 2040.  
 

 
 
Housing Count Trends 
These projections assume a similar vacancy rate as currently. The vacancy rate was estimated by the U.S. 
Census Bureau to be 11.2% in 2019, up slightly from 10.9% in 2010.  These are relatively high vacancy 
rates, however, so some of the projected housing needs might be met by occupying more of the existing 
housing or removing some of the existing housing. 
 
Housing demand projections consider overall population projections and trends in persons per household 
unit (PPHU) figures - total population divided by the total number of housing units. - for Leavenworth, 
Leavenworth County, and the State of Kansas. The PPHU averages 1.42 during the 2020s and 1.46 in the 
2030s.  The latest (2019) estimate of PPHU for the City is 2.61, up from 2.54 in 2010.  In other words, new 
households in Leavenworth would be smaller than today, but getting a little larger over time. 

42,800

48,700

55,100

61,700

39,200
41,200

43,300
45,300

36,000

36,600 36,600 36,500 36,100
30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

55,000

60,000

65,000

2019 2025 2030 2035 2040

Projected Population Scenarios 2019 to 2040
City of Leavenworth

Source:  Saint Louis University

High

Middle

Low



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 5  

 
 
Assuming no change in the current vacancy rate, the high growth scenario would require about 17,700 
more housing units in Leavenworth over the next two decades.  The middle growth scenario would 
require about 6,300 more units.  The low growth scenario would require a reduction of about 130 
housing units. 
 

 
 
 
Insight: 
 
Housing Units 
The number of housing In Leavenworth Increased only slightly from 2010 to 218. Single-family detached 
and attached accounts for 79 percent of Leavenworth's housing stock, according to the 2018 American 
Community Survey. Multifamily housing makes up 20 percent of housing stock, and mobile homes 
account for one percent. 
 
Occupancy 
Occupancy remained the same at 11 percent from 2010 and 2018. Owner-occupied housing accounts for 
45 percent of Leavenworth's housing units, a slight decrease since 2010. Renter-occupied housing 

4,640 
4,130 

4,450 4,500 

2,070 

1,400 1,460 1,360 

210 

- (70) (270) (1,000)

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

 5,000

2020-2025 2025-2030 2030-2035 2035-2040

Projected Housing Additions by Scenario 2020 to 2040
City of Leavenworth

Source:  Saint Louis University

High

Middle

Low

18,600 

22,700 

27,200 

31,700 

16,100 
17,500 

19,000 
20,400 

14,000 

14,200 14,200 14,100 13,800 
 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

Total Housing Units by Scenario 2020 to 2040
City of Leavenworth

Source:  Saint Louis University

High

Middle

Low



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 6  

accounts for 44 percent, an increase of two percent since 2010. This increase in rental occupation 
reduced the rental vacancy rate to 7.0 percent.  

 
 
 
Aging in Place 
The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention define “aging in 
place” as “the ability to live in one’s home and community safely, 
independently and comfortably, regardless of age, income or ability.” 
The American Planning Association refers to this concept as “aging in 
community” where “older adults can live as independently as possible 
in the community of their choice.”  
 
Population projections by Wichita State University indicate a 39 
percent rate of growth for Leavenworth County between 2019 and 
2064. They also indicate that the share of Leavenworth County’s 
population over age 65 will increase from about 15 percent in 2019 to 
23 percent in 20 years. Seniors would almost double in the county, 
from 12,700 in 2019 to 23,200 in 2039. Some of the housing needs in 
the City, therefore, should address the ability of older residents to 
age in place. That place does not necessarily have to be their current 
homes, but policies and programs should enhance affordable choices 
for seniors to remain in Leavenworth. Moreover, seniors are often 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 7  

cost-burdened more than other groups because of relatively stagnant incomes, particularly if they are in 
older housing needing above-average maintenance.  
 
 
Neighborhood Analysis 
Cost burdening can readily put pressure on housing owners to defer maintenance. If deterioration 
becomes obvious, much research shows that it discourages others—including people in adjacent 
neighborhoods—to spend money on maintenance. Research also shows, however, that reinvestment in 
neighborhoods has the opposite effect: property owners will fix up their homes if others do so. 
 
It is important, therefore, that Leavenworth evaluate where housing deterioration is occurring and to 
intervene with appropriate programs to reverse the tide. The influence of such intervention can often be 
measured as far as a quarter mile away, not just next door or across the street. Thus, public financing 
programs or even code enforcement (done constructively) can not only help particularly cost-burdened 
households but can encourage many others to make improvements on their own. A key effect, of course, 
is that well-targeted public resources can leverage notable improvements in entire neighborhoods. 
 
Cost of Living 
Leavenworth residents have a low overall cost of living, which ranks 83.1 compared to the U.S. average 
cost of living of 100. Housing and Transportation rank significantly lower than national averages. Higher 
ranking factors like utilities (102.2), health (99.9), grocery (95.1), and miscellaneous expenses (99.6), 
which includes clothing, restaurants, repair, and entertainment, and other services, contribute to 
increasing the overall cost of living.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Median Home Value 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 8  

The median home value in Leavenworth decreased 8.9 percent between 2010 and 2015 before increasing 
7 percent by 2018. Between 2010 and 2018, the number of owner-occupied units valued at under 
$150,000 increased by 3.3 percent. Those units valued at over $150,000 decreased by 17.5 percent. The 
number of homes ranging in price from $300,000 to $499,000 increased by 40 percent.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
Owner-Occupied vs. Renter-Occupied 
Leavenworth’s ratio between owner-occupied and renter-occupied housing units from 2010 and 2018 
has remained consistent. Owner-occupied housing decreased from 47 percent in 2010 to 45 percent by 
2018, while rental occupancy increased from 42 percent to 44 percent during the same period.  
 
Between 2010 and 2018, the median value decreased 2.6 percent. Monthly rents increased by 28 
percent. The significant decrease in values from 2010 – 2015 would suggest less demand and impacts 
from the 2010 Great Recession. 
 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 9  

Cost Burden 
Currently, 27 percent of Leavenworth residents are cost-
burdened, which is less than the MARC Region’s rate as a whole. 
This rate primarily reflects the predominance of owner-occupied 
single-family housing and the number of those housing units with 
a mortgage. The Leavenworth Housing Authority currently serves 
as an option for low-income affordable housing.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Trends & Foresight: 
 
Aging Population 
As populations age, the Baby Boomer generation will be the largest senior-aged cohort in world history. 
This increase presents challenges related to where the elderly will live and how they will receive care. 
Alternative housing types will allow many to reside closer to their children and grandchildren and relieve 
them of many homeowner responsibilities. The growing aging population, paired with the fact that many 
younger generations are waiting to have families, results in trends in reduction in person per housing unit 
figures. 
 
ADUs & Tiny Homes 
Alternative forms of housing implemented throughout communities in the U.S. include accessory dwelling 
units (ADUs) and tiny homes. These provide housing typology options to accommodate populations with 
lower income levels and those looking to downsize while maintaining independent living. 
 
ADUs, also known as granny flats, are secondary structures permitted on existing residential property. 
They also include dwelling units built above garages. 
 
Tiny homes are typically single units less than 400 square feet. They can be developed in clusters to 
create a sense of community for residents. Communities use tiny home developments to 

• shelter the homeless, 
• provide housing options for veterans and other groups like artists, and  
• create senior citizen villages, reducing maintenance responsibilities while increasing safety and 

companionship with nearby peers. 
 
Alternative housing types increase density, which reduces City pressures related to infrastructure 
expansion and costs per capita. They also aid in improving the quality and vibrancy of neighborhoods. 
 
Other communities adopt policies and programs related to universal design standards for residential 
development to expand opportunities for people to remain in their homes and age in place. 
 
 
 
Strategy 1: Maintain current share of the county's population within Leavenworth. As the county grows, 
so does the city. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 10  

 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Create an "external marketing plan" to inform the metropolitan area of housing opportunities 
existing and future development in Leavenworth.  

• Engage citizens of Leavenworth in periodic town hall meetings to discuss challenges in 
neighborhood revitalization and the ability of residents to maintain housing. 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Convene annual housing developer symposia (e.g., breakfast, presentations, and bus tours) to 
expose housing developers to the opportunities and advantages of creating and improving housing 
in Leavenworth.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
 
Strategy 2: Increase the variety of housing types, sizes, and price points available to meet changing 
needs of emerging markets in the region. 

o 2.1: Provide housing types to attract people with professional, scientific, technological jobs 
capturing a larger percentage of this regional growth sector.  

o 2.2: Retain more retired military personnel with more housing options. 
o 2.3: Increase the number of quality housing unites available for Leavenworth’s workforce to own 

or rent. 
 
Local Actions: 
 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Create an "internal marketing plan" to inform local leaders about housing assets and liabilities so 
they become ambassadors for housing growth and diversity in Leavenworth.  

• Ensure the number of available housing units aligns with workforce growth in the community.  
• Encourage an increase in the number of available quality, market-rate rental housing units.  



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 11  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Allow for alternative housing types (e.g., patio homes, tiny homes, co-housing, and multi-
generational housing) to serve a variety of needs.  

• Encourage development of infill sites that fits with the areas character by providing incentives to 
home builders 

• Capitalize on Leavenworth’s military importance by creating housing opportunities specifically for 
veterans who could choose Leavenworth for post-service residency. Special attention should be 
given to the needs of struggling veterans who are homeless (e.g., tiny home villages) or are 
needing other assistance in affording good quality housing in a nurturing environment. 

• Explore code modifications to encourage Universal Design for new residential development.  
• Encourage additional residential units/mixed use development in Downtown.  

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Identify, inventory, and map the city's housing assets - types, sizes, price/rent ranges - upon 
which future housing construction and renovation policies can be based.  

• Evaluate opportunities to encourage workforce housing that enables the recruitment and 
retention of workforce including healthcare, education, technical/trade, and public safety 
employees.  

• Conduct a needs study to evaluate the number of affordable units currently available in 
Leavenworth and the alignment with future demands.  

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Incentivize residential developments to provide varied housing types, connections to existing 
infrastructure, and subdivision amenities.  

 
 

Strategy 3: Improve the condition of deteriorating housing, making the neighborhood safer and more 
desirable.   
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Engage citizens of Leavenworth in periodic town hall meetings to discuss challenges in 
neighborhood revitalization and the ability of residents to maintain housing 

• Develop and implement an education program focused on property maintenance rules and 
ordinances. 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Create an annual report and/or on-line dashboard of housing investments and opportunities in the 
city.  Keep everyone well-informed about housing conditions, specific development proposals, and 
programs to encourage occupancy and maintenance. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 12  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Strengthen property owner maintenance codes and enforcement, including consideration of 
periodic proactive code enforcement in targeted areas where City service requests are greatest. 
Define minimum requirements to ensure Code Official inspections consistently meet City 
standards.  

• Provide incentives and information about available assistance programs to encourage property 
owners to rehabilitate homes. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
 
 
Strategy 4: Increase the occupancy rate of existing housing.   
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Create an "external marketing plan" to inform the metropolitan area of housing opportunities 
existing and future development in Leavenworth.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• x 
 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Provide incentives and information about available assistance programs to encourage property 
owners to rehabilitate homes. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Study and document the conditions of currently vacant housing to determine necessary expenses 
and policies to find occupants toward increasing the occupancy rate in Leavenworth.  

 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 13  

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• x 

 
 
 

Mobility 
 

Goal 1: Better connect people within our city and the region with a complete transportation system 
offering a variety of different transportation modes. 
 
Goal 2: Improve the transportation system to increase access to employment opportunities, 
particularly among populations that may not have personal vehicles. 

• What are the transportation issues? 
• How do we enhance mobility, both locally and regionally? 
• How do we better connect the multimodal transportation network? 
• How do we provide more choice of transportation modes? 
• What new funding sources or mechanisms are needed to enhance the multimodal transportation 

network? 
 
Context: 
Transportation networks encompass roadways, bridge crossings, sidewalks, on-street parking, off-road 
recreational trails, and public transit. Multimodal options and transportation choices improve the quality 
and resiliency of communities. In addition to these modes, people and freight move by rail and air. 
 
Safe and convenient access to transportation varies based on income and physical abilities. Communities 
experience increased economic and individual health when all residents have more transportation 
choices. 
 
Personal vehicles are the primary mode of transportation for most Americans. The 1950s auto industry 
boom added car ownership to the American Dream. Almost 93 percent of U.S. households own at least 
one vehicle. The national average is two vehicles per household. To reduce the economic burden of 
owning a vehicle and their environmental impact people walk, bike, and rely on micro-mobility options 
and public transit.  
 
Insight 
One of the City of Leavenworth’s main goals to ensure the long-term livability of the community centers 
on improving the transportation network and advancing mobility options. Transportation networks 
incorporate all roadways, bridge crossings, roadside features like sidewalks, bus stops and on-street 
parking, off-road recreational trails, public transit, airports, navigable waterways, trains, traffic signals and 
general traffic technology. With a guiding vision for a modern transportation system, city staff and public 
stakeholders will be empowered to elevate quality of life for all citizens by investing in sustainable 
roadways, wide sidewalks along thoroughfares and recreational trails along streamways.  
 
By reinforcing the city’s role as a connection hub linking a population of more than 36,000 with the 
community experience along the Missouri River, transportation infrastructure projects will reinforce the 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 14  

community’s long-term success through incorporation of the city’s location in a lasting partnership with 
the natural highlights of the community’s landscape.  
 
 
Personal Vehicles  
Like most communities, Leavenworth is 
predominately car-focused. There are 34.8 
major street miles within the city limits. 
Leavenworth households average over 21,000 
vehicle miles and spend $12,247 on 
transportation each year. Most Leavenworth 
households own two vehicles.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Workforce Commute  
Leavenworth residents enjoy an average 17.3 minutes, significantly lower than the national average 
commute of 26.6 minutes. Just over 3,700 of Leavenworth’s residents live and work in town. Nearly 82 
percent of Leavenworth’s workforce commute to work by car, with an additional 10.5 percent carpooling. 
However, only 2.6 percent of those that live in town also 
walk to work. The top three cities that Leavenworth’s 
workforce travels to for work are:  

• Lansing, adjacent city to south of Leavenworth 
• Kansas City, KS, 32 approximately x miles away 
• Kansas City, MO, 34 approximately x miles away 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Streets and Parking 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 15  

Typical street widths characterize Leavenworth neighborhoods and commercial areas. The width of the 
streets in newer developed residential neighborhoods promote shared use for parking and biking and 
most are lined with sidewalks. Roadways in older parts of the community and surrounding downtown are 
narrower and lack complete sidewalks. Downtown Leavenworth provides angled, parallel and surface lot 
parking options for store patrons. Surface lots accommodate needed parking for the businesses along 4th 
Street and Metropolitan commercial corridors.  
 
Sidewalk Gaps 
Additionally, there are sidewalk gas throughout the community. These gaps present physical barriers to 
people needing to access community services and amenities from their homes. These connectivity issues 
are especially prevalent in the older residential neighborhoods in, resulting in limited access to parks, 
services and education institutions.  
 
Trails 
Leavenworth has 42 miles of trails managed by the City. Most notable trails include Three-Mile creek, a ½ 
mile trail connecting Leavenworth Land Park to Haymarket Square;  
North Esplanade Park, described as a linear riverfront park and trail system. Stretching along the 
riverfront at Esplanade Street and Kickapoo; and Havens Park, a 65-acre park and walking trail. Residents 
use the trails to walk, bike, and run. There is a demand for increased trail and bike facilities within the 
community to connecting existing city and regional trails.   
 
Airport 
Sherman Army Airfield within Fort 
Leavenworth is used by both the military 
and civilians and is located at 1000 Chief 
Joseph Loop. This airfield is referred to as a 
regional airport and tends to operate 
mostly business flights. Although a 
previously published report outlined a 
recommendation for a new regional airport 
located within the County of Leavenworth 
based on population demand, efforts to 
advance this plan have not made headway. 
Kansas City International Airport (KCI), 
located 20 minutes from Leavenworth is 
currently redeveloping to a new single terminal that will meet the needs of the expanding KC Metro area. 
The single terminal will allow for a better concentration of services and amenities. The proximity of 
Leavenworth to KCI provide the city leverage when attracting future businesses and employers.  
 
Transportation Services 
The Council for Aging, located near downtown, operates the Senior Express Transportation Program. The 
Senior Express provides transportation services for residents of Leavenworth County who are 50 years 
and older, as well as disabled residents of any age.  
 
Riders Rights and Responsibilities, is operated by the Guidance Center providing general public 
transportation to and from areas within the east and west boundaries of Leavenworth City limits, and 
areas between Metropolitan Avenue and the medical facilities at Highway 7.  
These services are considered a community asset. There is demand for expanded public transportation.  



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 16  

 
Public Transportation:  
A recent transit study was completed in 2019 for Leavenworth County that recommended improved 
public transportation within the county as a priority with additional connected routes to the KC Metro 
area coming at a later time. As scalable transit vehicles are being refined year after year, there is a need 
to implement a transportation service that can ensure that citizens have the freedom to live where they 
want without the need to drive especially for individuals with disabilities or issues with health.  
 
For communities of similar size to Leavenworth, the most likely transit service of the future is Personal 
Rapid Transit (PRT) which is based on autonomous electric vehicles with 1 to 4 passengers and on-
demand service to a destination utilizing existing roadways. The PRT system would then be connected to 
other communities through a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) which takes travel time reliability to the next level.  
 
To achieve the goals of a revitalized transportation system, a substantial program is required to 
strengthen partnerships with other agencies and obtain federal grants to advance the goal of a unified 
community transportation network and combat the projected deterioration of community assets.  
 
Trends and Foresight 
Car-Free Lifestyle 
Many communities experience trends toward the car-free lifestyle for many residents. People are giving 
up their cars for a variety of reasons, including: 

• the cost burden of owning and maintaining a vehicle, 
• a desire to improve mental and emotional health by reducing stress associated with commuting 

and the loss of hours of personal productivity,  
• the need to improve physical fitness through increased walking and biking, and 
• the high demand for transportation modes that decrease environmental impact.  

 
New Modes 
There is also an emergence of new transportation modes: 

• autonomous vehicles, 
• ride-hailing services, especially in college towns and areas where short trips are in high demand, 

and 
• micro-mobility options, which include e-scooters, golf carts, e-bikes, etc. 

These offer resident’s greater mode choice to get around locally and help close the last-mile gaps in 
communities with more extensive multimodal transportation networks. 
 
Work from Home 
The COVID-19 pandemic forced many Americans to start working from home. This trend is likely to 
continue post-pandemic. Working from home increases the day-time population and the number of 
people needing to access local services and amenities. Expanding multimodal transportation options will 
help meet the growing demand.  
 
Connectivity 
Wide sidewalks along thoroughfares and recreational trails along streamways help transform the walking, 
jogging and biking options around the city. Through pedestrian infrastructure, parks become linked to 
other parks and the city becomes a large inviting ecosystem. The more interconnected an off-road 
network becomes, the greater the contribution towards the long-term economic magnetism and 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 17  

community health. These pedestrian enhancement projects often involve a “Complete Street” make-over 
which adds a stormwater management system, street trees, addresses any pavement failures and fixes 
driveways within a roadway’s right-of-way. 
 
Safety Solutions:  
Current avenues of success to enhance transportation safety involves access management, pedestrian 
crossings and traffic calming and all three are necessary to achieve a high level of community 
attractiveness for a walkabout or shopping spree.  
 

Access management works to reduce crash frequency by addressing intersection and driveway issues, 
installation of turn lanes to reduce the risk of a rear-end crash, and ensure drivers and pedestrians have 
the visibility to see around landscaping, signage and parked vehicles.  
 
Pedestrian crossings and traffic calming go hand-in-hand because modern solutions that effectively 
blend these categories into one project. The toolbox of common low-maintenance solutions include the 
following: 

• pedestrian refuge island 
• raised crosswalks and intersections 
• on-street parking with curb extensions 
• street trees 
• Street Trees  

 
Technology and Vehicle Evolution:  
The next 10 years will see widespread use of:  

• adaptive traffic signals, 
• Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS),  
• increases in electric vehicles,  
• increases in bicyclists and personal electric scooters/motor bikes,  
• introduction of driverless autonomous vehicles, and  
• mobility on demand services.  

 
a. Implement roadside bioswales to recharge underground waterways, eliminate blight in 

roadside ditches, and reduce contaminate runoff into habitats 
b. Improve street vibrancy with walk-up business enhancements, outdoor seating, a cooling 

shade from trees, and water bottle filling stations 
2. Steer deployment and integration of an innovative transit service and automated transit systems 
3. Develop a plan for sustainable roadway extensions to direct development as it occurs 

 
Goal 1: Better connect people within our city and the region with a complete transportation system 
offering a variety of different transportation modes. 
 
Strategy 1: Provide a modern transportation system that is connected, safe and efficient. Measures: 
baseline function and satisfactory levels of capacity. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 18  

• Raise awareness of the Senior Express Transportation and Rider’s Right as a public transportation 
service for the community.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Grow the $2 million annual program to repair or reconstruct commercial and neighborhood 
roadways. 

• Implement a maintainable transportation improvement fund consisting of community 
reinvestment and government grants to reconstruct critical infrastructure. 

• Continue to utilize Kansas Department of Transportation’s City Connecting Link Improvement 
Program (CCLIP) to restore pavement along KDOT routes through the City. 

 
Plan Development 

• Develop a plan for sustainable roadway extensions to direct development as it occurs. 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Ensure that parking in commercial areas provides a high level of service but does not detract from 
the community’s appearance or impede promoting other transportation modes.  

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Strengthen current partnerships with other agencies to advance the goal of a unified community 
transportation network and combat the deterioration of community assets.  

• Incorporate downtown partnerships with a procedural streetscape maintenance plan that 
highlights store frontage and encourages pedestrians to visit multiple businesses per trip.  

• Partner with the Convention & Visitors Bureau to assess streetscapes along regional attractions in 
the community and collaborate for a sidewalk make-over to boost tourist perception.  

o Historic Downtown Leavenworth, Leavenworth Landing Park and Riverfront Community 
Center, the CW Parker Carousel Museum, Fort Leavenworth and Sherman Army Airfield 
(AAF), Leavenworth Unified School District and University of Saint Mary, the U.S. 
Penitentiary, and Veterans Administration Center and Park are opportunity zones. " 

• Partner with Kansas Department of Transportation, Mid-America Regional Council, Leavenworth 
County and Platte County, Missouri to reconstruct the Centennial Bridge while widening it to 4-
lanes 

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate transportation needs. 
• Take an inventory of which major roadways and which neighborhood roadways have an obvious 

issue with pavement maintenance requiring major construction.  
• Take inventory of which roadways or neighborhoods are underserved or blighted. 

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• Incentivize development that provides the infrastructure to support multimodal transportation.  
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 19  

• Consider use of technology and vehicle detection on major roadways (4th, 20th, Metropolitan, 
Eisenhower).  

• Incorporate safe, convenient, accessible and attractive design features that beautify the 
community and promote walking and biking (e.g., sidewalks, bike street furniture, bicycle 
facilities, street trees, gateway monuments, and wayfinding signage).  

 
 
 
Strategy 2: Invest in sustainable roadways, wide sidewalks along thoroughfares and 
recreational trails along streamways to encourage walking and biking. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Consider pairing improvements for pedestrian crossings with traffic calming options. 
• Ensure the connective infrastructure like trails and sidewalks are accessible to people of all 

abilities.  
 
Plan Development 

• Develop a plan for a combination trail expansion/utility connection corridor to position 
Leavenworth as a bicycle hub and position utilities for future growth. 

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Partner with Mid-America Regional Council to expand the City's recreational trails and sidewalk 
system. 

• Partner with the Leavenworth School District to improve walkability between residential 
neighborhoods to schools, filling in gaps with ¼ mile of schools.  

• Identify alternate funding sources to fill gaps in sidewalk network.  
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate transportation needs. 
• Take inventory of which roadways area a priority for adding street lights to improve traffic and 

pedestrian safety.  
• Take inventory of dedicated bicycle lanes, bicycle share -the-road 'sharrows' and off-road 

recreational trails. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 20  

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• Pedestrian Refuge Islands, Raised Crosswalks, Raised Intersections, On-Street Parking with Curb 

Extension and Street Trees between the curb and sidewalk are common options for traffic 
calming.  

• Construct a linked network of wide sidewalks between community attractions to advance 
community magnetism. During these projects, also address any issues with stormwater 
management, street trees, sight restrictions and pavement failures. 

• Connect community spaces and neighborhoods with a recreational trail system parallel to natural 
streamways. 

• Update pedestrian crossings with audible pushbuttons, shorter pedestrian crossings, high 
visibility retroreflective pavement markings and signs and activated warning lights. 

• Implement roadside bioswales to recharge underground waterways, eliminate blight in roadside 
ditches and reduce contaminant runoff into habitats. 

• Improve street vibrancy with walk-up business enhancements, outdoor seating, a cooling shade 
from trees, and water bottle filling stations. Capitalize on existing localized shopping plazas 
through installation of innovative outdoor seating, turf play areas, fountains, rest areas, trail 
connectivity and a new exterior face-lift. 

• Express the character of the community through art and other gateway features during 
Centennial Bridge reconstruction. 

 
 
Goal 2: Improve the transportation system to increase access to employment opportunities, 
particularly among populations that may not have personal vehicles. 
 
Strategy 1: Reduce the number of sidewalk segments were gaps mean a disconnected system for 
walking. Focus connecting neighborhoods to schools. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Continue applying for local, state, and federal grants to supplement City funding to fill gaps and 
expand sidewalk segments.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Develop design standards to require developers to build infrastructure to promote walkability, 
especially pedestrian connections to commercial districts, recreation and community services. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate transportation needs. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 21  

• Take inventory of sidewalk gaps and areas of priority.  
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Upgrade existing and construct new sidewalks in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) specification. 

 
 
Strategy 2: Evolve the transportation system to take advantage of new technologies. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Consider deployment of traffic signal technology that adapts the green time to maximize 
coordination. 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Create new policy language to adapt best practices for smart work zones, traffic signal 
connectivity, highway observation cameras, operation centers, data collection systems, Highway 
Advisory Radio (HAR), emergency signal preemption, incident management response and vehicle-
infrastructure intercommunication.  

• Steer deployment and integration of an innovative transit service, automated transit systems and 
fully-autonomous vehicles.  

o Identify an optimal location for a single BRT stop with a detailed plan to reduce delay 
between other communities and the major activity centers.  

o Track community demand for Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) which will require infrastructure 
and vehicle investment, bus station improvements, a modern fare collection system, 
vehicle to vehicle communications and advance congestion avoidance to be successful.  

o As demand for BRT rises, a partnership between the City of Leavenworth, Leavenworth 
County and existing micro transit services will be needed to promote multimodal 
connectivity and transit system interoperability. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate transportation needs. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 22  

• Take inventory of which locations would benefit from Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) 
deployment including traffic observations CCTV cameras, Dynamic Message Signs, or Variable 
Speed Limit Signs.  

• Take inventory of locations that would benefit from charging stations for electric vehicles. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
 
Strategy 3: Ensure that areas with high job density are accessible to employees via one or more travel 
modes (automobile, transit, bicycling, walking). 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Continue applying for local, state, and federal grants to supplement City funding and to 
accommodate multiple modes of transportation (e.g., sidewalks, bike lanes, roads). 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate transportation needs. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Construct a linked network of wide sidewalks between employment centers and neighborhoods 
to advance community growth. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 23  

 
Infrastructure & Utilities  

 
Goal: Invest in Leavenworth's to promote growth, revitalization and high quality of life for all.  
 

• What are the infrastructure needs? 
• Are there opportunities to improve or expand City services through new infrastructure 

technologies? 
• Where does infrastructure cost limit new development and redevelopment? 
• What should be planned for and implemented to enhance infrastructure performance and 

sustainability? 
• What funding sources or mechanisms are needed to enhance the infrastructure system? 
• How can we reduce pollutants from the stormwater system? 
• How can we reduce pollutants discharged from the wastewater system? 
• How do we provide reliable, sustainable wastewater and stormwater systems that protect water 

quality, public health and property damage? 
• How do we continue to provide a clean, safe and reliable drinking water system? 

 
Recommendation: Maintain infrastructure at a sustainable cost that supports growth. 
 
Context: 
Infrastructure and utilities are fundamental elements of any community. As a community’s ability to 
reconstruct critical infrastructure depends on available funding resources, there is a persistent challenge 
to invest strategically. Communities managing debt payments for past projects often have to underfund 
essential services. The end result is that infrastructure and utilities, which are the highest costs for a 
community, become the lowest priority while also seeing the sharpest rise in cost over time. Constant 
maintenance is the best strategy to limit the need for complete reconstruction projects and extend the 
service life of community assets. 
 
 
Insight: 
The City is working on two major infrastructure projects: Replacement of the Centennial Bridge over the 
Missouri River which is 65 years old and the Stormwater Management Program which rehabilitates 
underground systems including some segments that were constructed over 100 years ago. These major 
City projects are supplemented with ongoing roadway and sidewalk repair/replacement projects, the 
need to establish a fund for Wastewater Treatment Plant emergencies, improvements to internet service 
and the desire for renewable energy resources.  
 
Water 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 24  

Separate from the City’s Public Works Department, Leavenworth Waterworks is an independent entity. 
Leavenworth Waterworks operates two facilities as a non-profit with about 35 employees and does not 
receive tax revenue. Both facilities can supply 6 million gallons per day and the southern plant can be 
doubled in size should 
demand rise. With a service 
area of more than 50,000 
people, average demand has 
remained at about 5 million 
gallons per day; therefore, 
improvements at the water 
treatment plants have been 
focused on adapting to federal water regulations and waterline replacement rather than plant expansion. 
 
Wastewater 
The sanitary sewer system serves 10,735 residential, commercial and industrial customer accounts. The 
average monthly residential wastewater utility bill is $28. The wastewater treatment plant has a capacity 
of 6.88 million gallons per day, treating 1.1 billion gallons per year. The system uses a combination of 
biological, chemical and mechanical treatment methods to remove an average of over 90 percent of 
pollutants. With recent upgrades including an odor control system, the plant is situated to meet demand 
for treatment, however, existing 160 miles of sewer pipes require replacement to increase capacity and 
reduce stormwater infiltration.  
 
Wastewater treatment is not applied to stormwater pollutants as the stormwater systems connect 
directly to streams. Any motor vehicle residuals, trash, illegally disposed liquids or lawn chemical runoff 
that enters a storm inlet leads to direct damage of the community’s stream habitats. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 25  

Stormwater 
The City’s stormwater management program has been successfully converting segments of the 100-year-
old stormwater pipes and manholes into a modern conveyance system. In 2018, Leavenworth created a 
Stormwater Utility Fee to fund these upgrades and a prioritization plan that ranks the top 100 stormwater 
projects in an objective manner. The fee brings in about $1,250,000 each year. Improvements of 
$1,687,055 have been completed within a 16-month period with an additional $2.6 million under design 
or ready for construction.  
 
For all cities in Kansas, stormwater programs are required to 
obtain a permit and meet standards set by the Kansas 
Department of Health and Environment (KDHE). Recently, 
KDHE issued a new permit for the City of Leavenworth and 
requires ongoing reports to document the procedures to 
provide improvements for water quality, reduce pollutants and 
follow Best Management Practices (BMPs). Currently th City is 
in good standing with maintenance, public engagement, illicit 
discharge detection, construction activity runoff control and 
pollution prevention. 
Streets 
The Public Works Department maintains 34.8 lane miles of road within the City of Leavenworth. Roads 
outside of the City’s jurisdiction, owned and operated privately or by the State of Kansas or Leavenworth 
County, are not included in the lane mile count. Much of the Downtown District roads are brick overlayed 
with pavement. The department also maintains 171 miles of sidewalks and shared-use side paths 
throughout the community. Thirty percent of the 129 miles of sidewalks are in excellent condition.  
Maintenance of street infrastructure includes the streetlights, traffic signals and safety zone flashers. City 
crews, Evergy, and other entities coordinate efforts to keep street lights repaired and maintained.  
 

 
 
Trends & Foresight: 
 
Design-Build:  
One of the most efficient and cost-effective strategies of construction is the Design-Build approach where 
the timeline of construction overlaps the design process. This strategy allows for more project owner 
participation, single-source responsibility, value engineering, schedule fast-tracking, and improved cost 
management of the project. Restrictions in the Kansas Constitution prevent the Kansas Department of 
Transportation to use the Design-Build process. However, smaller projects such as neighborhood street 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 26  

replacement may use this approach providing the City an economic benefit by offering both price control 
and schedule control early in the process.  
 
Business District Revitalization:  
Commercial centers are seeing major reinvestment as part of a combined economic/infrastructure 
redevelopment structure. The trending transformation of neglected business districts goes beyond a new 
facade by incorporating urban plaza elements such as fountains, small turf fields, shaded furnishings and 
other pedestrian-centric interactive experiences. These projects often require roadway and sidewalk 
improvements, traffic calming, parking lot improvements, new landscaping and signage updates. For 
detached pockets of commercial properties, this general template of urban renewal elevates the 
welcoming spirit of favorite neighborhood mainstays and works to preserve the character of existing 
buildings rather than starting from scratch.  
 
Green Infrastructure:  
Protection of natural resources (trees, waterways and other green spaces) are the underlying foundation 
that sustains life and enables economic development. In substitution for viewing undevelopable land as a 
net waste for new infrastructure, environmentally sensitive areas can be viewed as sources of green 
infrastructure systems enabling natural habitats in close proximity with cityscapes. Best management 
practices (BMPs) have been refined in recent years to create an outline for how these systems capture 
rainwater for ecological restoration with minimal need for post-construction maintenance. These BMP 
deployments also offer a sustainable approach to conservation and showcase areas for STEM activities for 
students to grow interest in protection of their community’s natural streamways and animal stewardship.  
 
Renewable Energy:  
Petroleum and natural gas remain the primary sources of U.S. energy. However, renewable energy 
production has tripled in the past 20 years. The U.S. Energy information Administration reports that 
biomass, geothermal, hydropower, and solar energy sources account for 11 percent of the country’s 
power. The market for renewable energy production continues to increase in Kansas. The state is now a 
leader in wind farming and turbine manufacturing.   
 
Pandemic Speculation:  
High-quality broadband allows people to work remotely and choose where they live based on the quality 
of life rather than the location of employment. With more people working from home due the COVD-19 
pandemic, it is critical to ensure Leavenworth supports access to the highest quality broadband available.  
 
 
Strategy 1: Maintain quality Infrastructure and invest in infrastructure that supports growth.  
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Obtain funding for replacement of the Centennial Bridge over the Missouri River. 
• Comply with federal requirements for Wastewater Treatment Plant emergencies, an advisory 

board is needed to ensure the City’s Wastewater meets the required 90-day reserve. 
• Continue to progress through the previously identified priorities for the Stormwater Management 

Program. 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 27  

• Utilize technology monitoring systems for utilities that track performance and notify public works 
of an issue. 

• Consider design-build process for small projects such as neighborhood street replacement.  
 
Plan Development 

• Continue to update the Wastewater Master Plan  
• Continue to update the Stormwater Master Plan  
• Develop a plan for renewable energy resources and conservation best practices on residential 

and commercial property redevelopment projects 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Consider policies that reduce utility maintenance issues and reduce water and pollution. 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Partner with agencies, local organizations, and property owners to address operational and 
aesthetic issues with worn-out infrastructure. 

• Partner with Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) to continue to revise the 
stormwater permitting process in the future and ensure that the City is in good standing.  

• Work with internet service providers to identify new opportunities for system consistency and 
higher speeds. 

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate city services, infrastructure and utilities.  
• Inventory and evaluate:  

o community properties which require new utility connections in combination with other 
amenity upgrades. 

o community buildings which require foundation repair, parking lot repair, exterior lighting 
and/or on-site stormwater detention. 

o retaining walls that have failed and which areas are a concern for slope stability. 
o community’s issues with trash, recycling, yard waste and/or sanitation. 
o which water collection locations, water treatment, water mains and hydrants require 

improvements to maintain the drinking water system. 
o issues with drinking water system capacity, water pressure, water main or service line 

breaks and contamination issues. 
o issues with break-prone or obsolete systems for stormwater conveyance and/or illegal 

contaminant dumping issues. 
o which wastewater pipes, manholes, lift stations, treatment or septic tanks require 

improvements. 
o locations requiring improvements to power poles, metal guy wires for stabilization, 

pedestal boxes, junction boxes and pull boxes 
o locations requiring improvements to tele-communications and internet systems, fiber 

distribution systems and/or underground duct-bank systems. 
o locations requiring improvements to the gas distribution system. 

• Conduct regular pavement condition assessments to prioritize maintenance and reconstruction 
projects.  

 
Enforcement & Incentives 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 28  

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Extend the $1.25 million annual program for stormwater management and obtain additional 
funding for drinking water, wastewater and stream rehabilitation. 

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Upgrade and maintain existing infrastructure and facilities to meet future needs and demands.  
• Evaluate needs to repair and replace brick street infrastructure as necessary to maintain 

community appearance and safety.  
 
Strategy 2: Upgrade city design standards with recent developments in sustainability to protect water 
quality, reinstall necessary pipes and install green infrastructure. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Promote the concept that stormwater systems connect directly to streams so any motor vehicle 
residuals, trash, illegally disposed liquids or lawn chemical runoff that enters a storm inlet leads to 
direct damage of the community’s stream habitats.  

• Promote proper etiquette for acceptable recyclable materials to decrease contamination which 
prevents recycling for 25% of items.  

•  
 
Practice Improvements 

• Install low-maintenance Best Management Practices (BMPs) as a sustainable alternative to 
concrete structures. Following construction, utilize the BMPs as showcase areas for STEM activities 
for students to grow interest in protection of their community’s natural streamways and animal 
stewardship.  

• Along the Missouri River, plan for enhanced marine infrastructure in proximity to the other 
community facilities along the riverfront. 

• Reduce pollutants from the stormwater system and wastewater system by continuing to transition 
segments of the 100-year-old pipes and manholes.  

• Effectively reduce maintenance issues for utilities, reduce waste and install pollution prevention 
mechanisms for accessible trash pickup. 

• Follow updated guidelines for green infrastructure systems which allow for greater capture of 
rainwater for ecological restoration with minimal need for post-construction maintenance.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 29  

• Inventory and evaluate: 
o  which lakes, ponds, dams and stormwater detention basins require solutions to address 

earthen stabilization, weirs, pipes, inlets and/or algae blooms. 
o which roadside ditches or swales, stormwater inlets, stormwater pipes, landscaped rain 

gardens or bioretention basins require improvements. 
o issues with trash, illegal dumping, streambank stabilization and stormwater pollution 

prevention for local streamways and wetlands. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
 
Strategy 3: Apply technology to City infrastructure and utility improvement projects to attract 
technology-based companies and the renewable energy production sector. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Plan for industry growth of the renewable energy sector. Evaluate energy opportunities to 
expand power supply, ensure stable supply and improve efficiency.  

• Explore solar, battery and wind opportunities to diversify the City’s power supply mix.  
 
Plan Development 

• Develop a plan for renewable energy resources and conservation best practices on residential 
and commercial property redevelopment projects.  

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Evaluate policy recommendations to increase the availability of high-speed internet service in new 
developments.  

• Evaluate and update residential renewable energy and distributed generation policies as needed.  
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Work with internet providers to increase access, reliability, speed and internet user experience at 
a reasonable cost.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 30  

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 

Public Facilities 
 

Goal 1: Provide natural spaces and facilities for active living. 
 

• What public facilities are needed to support the community's vision of the future? 
• How will new building techniques enhance quality, performance and sustainability? 
• What new funding sources or mechanisms are needed? 
• Should the recycling center and waste drop off facility be expanded to encourage easier access? 

 
Goal 2: Maintain reliable and sustainable infrastructure and public facilities for future generations. 
 
Recommendation: Provide necessary infrastructure and facilities to connect the community and 
provide adequate programming. 
 
Context: 
Public facilities are buildings, property, streets and infrastructure that benefit the public in a variety of 
ways. They serve the public by housing activities and providing services to all who live and work in a 
community. Periodically, communities need to construct new facilities to support residential and 
commercial growth, or to replace existing facilities when they become obsolete. Meeting the growing 
demand for high-quality community facilities and city services can be challenging at times when, for many 
cities throughout the U.S., municipal budgets are either flat or declining. 
 
Cities accomplish the effective and efficient provision of public facilities and services in a number of ways. 
Examples of best practices include coordination between city departments, cooperative agreements with 
surrounding local governments and partnerships with non-profits and the private sector. Cities also 
leverage technology to improve services and the use of existing resources. Cities should also consider 
residents ability to access facilities based on work schedules, access to transportation and physical ability.  
 
The City of Leavenworth will need to plan for public facilities in order to continue providing high-quality 
facilities and services to serve the needs of existing and future residents, workforce and businesses.  Long 
range facilities planning can help the City to identify underserved areas within the community and how to 
serve the community in the most efficient and cost-effective manner. Facilities planning helps streamline 
facility management and maintenance, identify new funding sources and guide the development of 
future facilities. Facilities planning can also help with things like identifying potential partnerships, 
supporting grant applications and uncovering opportunities to co-locate facilities.  
 
 
Insight: 
City Services 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 31  

Leavenworth operates under a commission-manager form of government. This system works to set City 
policy and adopt the annual operating budget and five-year capital improvement program to provide 
quality City services to the entire community.  
 
The City of Leavenworth offers a full range of services including:  

• Public safety, 
• Public works, 
• Planning and Community Development, 
• Economic Development, 
• Culture and Recreation, and  
• General government and administration. 

 
The City provide communications through their E-News items, Channel 2 and First City Connection 
Newsletter, released triennially. The City’s E-service include:  

• a community calendar, 
• City Commission agenda and videos,  
• links to the City’s social media,  
• a staff directory, and  
• links to local and state information. 

 
Public Facilities 
In Leavenworth, the age and condition of City-owned facilities varies. The Riverfront Community Center, 
Leavenworth City Hall and the Performing Arts Center are the City’s oldest facilities, built in 1888, 1924 
and 1928 respectively. The Riverfront Community Center and Performing Arts Center are listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places, and City Hall is located within the Leavenworth Downtown Historic 
District.  
 
Other City owned facilities include the Library, Municipal Service Center, Animal Control Facility, three (3) 
fire stations, the Recycling Center, the Brush Site and the wastewater treatment plant. Park facilities are 
discussed in Chapter 5 Public Health & Well-being.  
 
The City funds maintenance and operations of its facilities through its general fund and five-year capital 
improvement fund. Revenue for both funds is generated through sales and property taxes. 
 
Facility Maintenance and Management 
The Public Works Department oversees maintenance of City facilities. The management and maintenance 
of public facilities can be an ongoing challenge for cities, and is closely linked to a city’s long-term 
planning. Proper maintenance extends the performance life of existing facilities and can avert the need to 
use limited resources to construct new ones. The City of Leavenworth 
 programs funding for building maintenance through its Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 32  

Leavenworth Trash Services, Recycling Center and Brush Site 
The City of Leavenworth provides residential trash services to 
10,428 customers. Commercial and multi-family trash services 
are handled by private haulers. The City of Leavenworth uses the 
Leavenworth County Transfer station and Johnson County Landfill 
for disposal.  
 
The City operates a drop off recycling center located just west of 
the Municipal Service Center. The Recycling Center accepts a 
variety of materials and is always free. The Recycling Center is 
not conveniently located and some changes are needed to 
improve the facility’s effectiveness and utility for residents. The 
Brush Site is open to Leavenworth residents and accepts organic 
materials from general yard waste. The City charges for this 
service. On the first Saturday of each month however, the Brush 
Site is free to Leavenworth residents. The Recycling Center 
accepts drop offs of large bulky items, trash and tires on Free 
Saturdays too. 
 
The City of Leavenworth does not currently offer curbside 
recycling, although some residents have expressed strong 
support for such a program. The cost of a residential curbside 
recycling program is prohibitive.  
 

   

 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 33  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Trends & Foresight: 
 
Joint Use Facilities 
Cities across the United States are using new, creative methods to stretch lean budgets and meet 
residents’ needs. One such approach is to maximize the use of community buildings and spaces by 
sharing facilities with other governmental and non-governmental agencies. For example, cities, 
school districts and libraries often have buildings and outdoor spaces that are under-utilized. Innovative 
facilities designed or retrofitted with shared spaces can address the education needs of students while 
also meeting the community’s need for social, recreation and civic areas.  Cities are also incorporating 
community spaces and amenities near municipal buildings, such as fire stations, to increase the public 
benefit of city-owned facilities.  
 
Technology 
Advances in technology is changing how facilities are managed and maintained. Digitation, wireless 
communication and sensors make it possible to monitor nearly every component of a facility. Staff 
expertise must encompass both general facilities management and technology. Combining IT and 
facilities management personnel into the same department is one way some organizations are harnessing 
technology to improve public facility management. 
 
COVID-19 increased demand for safety, remote access to City services and facility designs that promote 
and protect public health. Technology allows cities to transition municipal services from in-person to 
online access, where appropriate.  
 
 
Life-Cycle Costs 
Using a life-cycle cost approach, decision makers in both the public and private sector can support 
investment in designs and systems with improved long-term operations and maintenance costs. 
Evaluating projects from a whole-life perspective, historically a 50-year life cycle, helps cities anticipate 
ongoing facility operations, maintenance and decommissioning goods.  
 
Accessibility 
People expect accessible, healthy and safe City facilities. The Americans with Disabilities Act requires 
accessible public facilities. As our population ages, the need for fully accessible public facilities is critical.  
COVID-19 increased demand for safety, remote access to City services and facility designs that promote 
and protect public health. These demands will remain long after the pandemic. Buildings and 
infrastructure will incorporate designs that can adapt to social distancing principles and higher hygiene 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 34  

standards. Trends in office planning and space reconfiguration, use of filtration systems and open-air 
workspaces. Touchless technologies will replace processes or actions that have traditionally required 
physical contact. These trends will require future modifications to existing facilities and design standards 
for future facilities and spaces.  
 
Recycling 
World recycling markets have changed over the past few years, causing a decrease in revenue from 
traditional curbside recycling programs by approximately 50 percent. Major recycling commodities such 
as mixed paper, mixed plastics and corrugated containers are impacted. While curbside recycling 
programs used to generate a revenue stream for some cities, recovery fees for recycled materials have 
increased dramatically, making disposal in landfills more cost effective. Cities are seeking recycling 
program options that are cost-effective, convenient for residents and collect materials that align with 
today’s market.  
 
Ripple Glass demonstrates an innovative approach to collecting, processing and creating a market for 
recycled glass bottles. Boulevard Brewing Company created Ripple Glass in partnership with local 
business and community organizations to create an easy way for people in the Kansas City region to 
recycle glass. Ripple’s state of the art processing facility and metro-wide collection system supports glass 
recycling throughout Kansas City and the KC region.  Ripple Glass collects and processes glass bottles and 
jars into material that businesses throughout the region use to make fiberglass insulation and new glass 
bottles.  
 
 
Goal 1: Provide natural spaces and facilities for active living. 
 
Strategy 1: Increase energy efficiency and reduce building maintenance costs for existing and new 
public facilities. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Educate decision makers about benefits of green construction; that it’s energy and resource-
efficient, supports good indoor air quality, reduces pollution and waste, minimizes overall 
environmental impact and generates cost savings over time. 
 

Practice Improvements 
• Consider incorporating energy efficient improvements and green building strategies into public 

facility construction and renovation projects.  
• Consider implementing a life-cycle cost model to support investment in designs and systems with 

improved long-term performance. 
• Source local materials, integrate design and construction into projects and solicit input from all 

users to ensure the final product (new or retrofitted facilities) meet the needs of existing and 
future users. 

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Consider amending the recently adopted building code to incorporate LEED standards (not 
requirement for certification).  

 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 35  

Strategy 2: Provide high quality public facilities and services for existing and future residents, 
workforce and businesses. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Continue promoting the use of community facilities as “third places” where residents of all ages 
can connect with programming and services, volunteer opportunities and opportunities for civic 
engagement. 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Ensure public facility planning includes coordination between all City Departments.  
• Connect City facilities to neighborhoods with sidewalks, trails, bike paths, etc.  
• Retrofit existing facilities for ADA compliance. 

 
Plan Development 

• Create a long-range facility plan for the City of Leavenworth. 
 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• x 

 
Partnerships & Collaboration 

• Establish partnerships with non-profits and other local government entities to improve service 
delivery and reduce duplication of services. 

• Investigate the feasibility of participating in Ripple Glass recycling program. 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate city services and facilities.  
• Identify maintenance needs of existing facilities as part of long-range facilities planning.  
• Assess potential locations for the recycling center whether expansion of the facility will benefit 

the community. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

•  
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Seek opportunities to co-locate community facilities to improve the provision of services and 
reduce capital and operating costs 

• Maintain City Hall to ensure the highest level of services. 
 
Strategy 3: Leverage technology to improve facility management, maintenance and operations. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Ensure employees charged with facility management have adequate training in use of technology 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 36  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Whenever possible, integrate major systems (e.g. HVAC, security cameras, keycard entry systems) 
throughout all City owned buildings, making sure they are consistent/compatible with each other 
when existing facilities are renovated or new facilities are constructed. 
 

Plan Development 
• x 

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Consider leveraging a facility managing system like Building Information Modeling (BIM) to help 
maximize building efficiency and identify maintenance needs. 

• Identify gaps in how the City is currently approaching facilities management and assess areas 
where improvement is needed. 

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
 
Goal 2: Maintain reliable and sustainable infrastructure and public facilities for future generations. 
 
Strategy 1: Ensure public facilities and spaces throughout the community are equitably distributed 
and designed to be safe, served by different transportation modes, and accessible to visitors with 
mobility impairments.  
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• x 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Ensure public facilities and spaces are served by different transportation modes. 
 
Plan Development 

• x 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 37  

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• x 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Evaluate ADA accessibility of facilities and develop phasing plan for improvements where needed.  
 
Enforcement and Incentives 

• Enforce existing design standards for public infrastructure in areas of new development to 
accommodate all ages and abilities.  

 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Upgrade public facilities and infrastructure to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA).  

• Consider all ages and abilities when making improvements to public facilities, parks and 
amenities.  

• Develop indoor and/or year-round recreation spaces and facilities when practical. 
 
 
 

Community Appearance 
 

Goal 1: Develop a vibrant community with a welcoming image and attractive physical appearance that 
celebrates community heritage through quality new development, appropriate redevelopment, and 
preservation of historic structures. 
 

• How do we enhance our community’s design and appearance? 
• How do we enhance the design and appearance of Downtown? 
• How do we enhance the gateways to the community and Downtown? 

 
Recommendation:  
 
Context:  
Physical and intangible elements shape a community’s character and image. Attractive communities tend 
to have well-designed, maintained and functional streets and pedestrian-scaled spaces.  
 
 
A Community’s image or identity is important because the type of identity a community has or wants to 
have impacts how residents engage with it. For example, communities with distinctive and dynamic 
identities are much more likely to retain residents and successfully engage residents. While communities 
with niche identities can be exclusionary because they can only successfully engage with specific groups.  
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 38  

Insight:  
The primary gateway points into Leavenworth are the northern entry point at 4th Street and 
Metropolitan Avenue and the southern entry at K-7 Highway and Eisenhower Road.  
 
Each of these gateways has limited way-finding signage, have four lane intersections, including highway 
retail and limited sidewalk access with large setbacks. Both are auto-centric and lack visual indicators and 
signage that make visitors aware they have entered Leavenworth.  
 
The entirety 4th Street Corridor is four-lane and parts include a center turn lane. The corridor is high 
traffic with speeds varying from 30 mph to 45 mph along the 4.4-mile corridor. 4th Street passes through 
Leavenworth’s Downtown district.  
 
The Downtown district is easily identified with the change to higher density single-family homes and a 
retail and office district where building setbacks are minimal and typically flush with sidewalks. In addition 
to having an urban feel, many structures have a historic design pattern. Tree canopies are common 
among the adjacent streets. 
 
Outside of the Downtown area, land uses in the corridor consist predominately of fast-food and retail. 
Most of the businesses outside the Downtown area are regional or national chains. Overall, the 4th street 
corridor has limited landscaping except for grassy setbacks. The area surrounding the University of Saint 
Mary, the Leavenworth National Cemetery and the Dwight D. Eisenhower VA Medical Center are 
exceptions that boast an abundance of mature trees that provide a rural-like feel.  
 
The northeast side of Leavenworth, and Fort Leavenworth have an abundance of significant historic sites 
that draw visitors into the community. Fort Leavenworth is located directly to the north of small-lot 
residential neighborhoods and Downtown Leavenworth. Fort Leavenworth’s proximity to Downtown and 
several landmark attractions is not an issue as much as the disconnect created by Metropolitan Avenue 
and the limited streetscape elements.  
 
Trends and Foresight: 
To create a dynamic and engaging community in Leavenworth, where community design meets resident 
needs, the city can implement design standards and increase beautification measures. Leavenworth can 
implement things like entertainment districts and art districts in the Downtown area and north close to 
Fort Leavenworth to create a bridge between the two areas. Improving the ability to walk and bike along 
corridors has proven successful in communities looking to enhance connections to achieve increased 
morale and love for the city. Implementing beautification and design standards while increasing 
multimodal transportation in places like along the 4th street corridor goes a long way in improving 
community appearance and inviting people to stay and explore the community.  
  
 
 
 
Strategy 1: Provide attractive gateways and corridors in the community.  
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Develop and implement an education program focused on property maintenance rules and 
ordinances.  



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                 Page | 39  

• Develop a brand for the community. 
 
Practice Improvements 

• Continue to maintain and enhance the Downtown District. 
• Continue to encourage paintings of murals on buildings in commercial corridors and the Downtown 

District to serve as points of interest.  
 
Plan Development 

• Evaluate and update the 2010 Downtown North Leavenworth Redevelopment Plan. 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Strengthen property owner maintenance codes and enforcement, including consideration of 
periodic proactive code enforcement in targeted areas where City service requests are greatest. 
Define minimum requirements to ensure Code Official inspections consistently meet City 
standards.  

• Develop design standards for public infrastructure that reflects quality development. 
• Consider adopting an open space and land dedication requirement for new development. 
• Develop a policy that requires a percent of public projects to be reserved for public art.    

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Develop a volunteer arts committee to discuss how to incorporate public are in high profile areas 
of the community.  

• Work with the Missouri Department of Transportation to improve wayfinding and marketing 
signage for Leavenworth at State Route 45 & 92.  

• Work with the Kansas Department of Transportation and the City of Lansing to improve 
wayfinding and marketing signage for Leavenworth at K-7 Highway and Eisenhower Road.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Conduct a citizen satisfaction survey to evaluate community appearance and perception.  
• Evaluate and maintain wayfinding and signage database to address  

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• Bring nonconforming signs into compliance with current regulations.  
• Provide great proactive property maintenance code enforcement.  

 
Programs or Services 

• Continue to remain active in the Tree City USA program. 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Increase signage and monumentation along major roadways to welcome people to Leavenworth.  
• Improve physical connections throughout the community to strengthen the sense of place.  

 



 
  
 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 1  

 

 

LEAVENWORTH, KANSAS 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Chapter 3: Harmony with Nature 
 

Natural Resources 

Goal 1: Reduce greenhouse gas emissions, energy and water usage and increase the use of renewable 
energy and mitigate climate-related impacts. 

How can we manage the use of land to minimize environmental impacts on human health and 
priority waterways? 
What are the priority natural resources and how do we preserve and enhance them? 
What additional programs and policies are needed to reduce resource consumption and increase 
waste diversion? 

 

Recommendation: Connect and protect open space to important natural habitats and the riverfront. 

Context: 
The preservation and management of natural resources is closely tied to all aspects of a community’s 
environmental, social, and economic well-being. Natural Resources are materials or substances that have 
formed naturally with the earth. They can be renewable or non-renewable. Renewable resources include 
things like water, wind, plant communities, and animals. Non-Renewable Resources usually take 
thousands of years to form and 
include materials like soil, sand, 
rock, coal, natural gas, and 
crude oil. Other non-renewable 
resources include metals and 
rare minerals. Successful 
communities are those that 
incorporate conservation and 
management of natural 
resources into land use and 
development decisions.   



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 2 

Insight: 
Leavenworth sits in the Central 
Irregular Plains, Osage Cuetas 
Ecoregion. The region transitions 
from tallgrass in the west to a 
combination of tallgrass prairie and 
oak hickory woodland in the east. 
Land use and cover is a mosaic of 
cropland, woodland and grassland.  
The Kansas Department of Health and 
Environment (KDHE) manages air, 
water, environmental remediation, 
waste management, and laboratory 
testing. KDHE splits the state into six 
districts. Leavenworth is located in 

the Northeast district and the district office is in Lawrence.  

Kansas City and Leavenworth contain coal fossil fuels, but not oil or natural gas. Leavenworth County has 
several active industrial minerals like limestone, sand and gravel. There are also several inactive and 
abandoned coal mines located in the County. Most of these resources, except for sand and gravel are 
non-renewable resources and need to be cared for and used in a sustainable way. The U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) is responsible for protecting human health and the environment by ensuring 
clean air, land, and water by developing and enforcing regulations. The EPA also provides grants and 
research and is divided into 10 regions. Kansas, Missouri, Nebraska, and Iowa make up Region 7. 

Air Quality: Clean air is affected by the choices of community members and the City. Community 
members and City officials who value land uses that include vegetation and greenspace can have positive 
influences on air quality when these values are acted upon. On the opposite side, land use decisions that 
favor auto-centric developments, factories, power plants, construction equipment and open burning 
decrease air quality because of the air pollutants, greenhouse gas emissions and large impervious 
surfaces associated with these types of uses.  

Lakes, Rivers, and Streams: Streams and riparian corridors are a natural resource asset for the 
Leavenworth community, providing habitat for wildlife and economic benefits. The Missouri River is a 
major asset and the backbone for other natural resources in Leavenworth. The streams, lakes and 
riparian corridors support woodlands, wetlands, and other habitats needed for a variety of plant and 
animal species to survive and thrive.  



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 3 

Healthy parks and natural areas also provide direct 
economic benefit to Leavenworth by attracting 
visitors to the community for hiking, birdwatching, 
camping, fishing, and other recreational pursuits. 
These visitors contribute to the local economy by 
paying park shelter and camping fees, and fishing 
permit revenue. Leavenworth’s 16 shelters 
generated $7,490 total revenue in 2019. 

Forest/Woodland Resources: The woodland 
resources in Leavenworth are found primarily in the 
suburban tree canopy of residential neighborhoods, 
parks, and riparian corridors of streams and the 
Missouri River. Leavenworth is a Tree City USA which is a nationwide 
movement that provides the framework necessary for communities 
to manage and expand their public trees. Tree cover is 
approximately 5,612 acres or 36 percent of city area.  

Wildlife Resources: Biodiversity in plant and animal life is a measure 
of healthy habitats and ecosystems. The Kansas Department of 
Wildlife, Parks, and Tourism is a cabinet-level agency with a 
Secretary appointed by the Governor. A seven-member, bipartisan 
commission, also appointed by the Governor, advises the Secretary, 
and approves regulations governing outdoor recreation and fish and 
wildlife resources in Kansas.   

Habitat areas are important since the Kansas City metropolitan region is 
part of the Midwest flyway for migratory waterfowl, songbirds (e.g., 
orioles and warblers), and monarch butterflies. The streams, lakes and 
riparian corridors support woodlands, wetlands and other habitats 
needed by these species. These natural resources absorb rainfall, clean 
our air, provide drinking water, and beautify our community. In addition, 
natural areas contribute to our physical and mental health, improving the 
quality of life for residents and visitors. 

Weston Bend bottomlands along the Missouri River, has one of the 
best-preserved riparian bottomlands in Kansas. Mature trees and 
the river provide habitat for more than 100 species of birds including 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 4 

herons and pileated woodpeckers. The 
area also absorbs river overflows 
during flood events. Leavenworth State 
Fishing Lake is abundant with mature 
trees from many species and the 
forest-prairie mix supports a multitude 
of wildlife. 

Farmland Resources: In Leavenworth, 
agriculture makes up 18.8 percent of 
land area in acres.  

Scenic Views: The Glacial Hills Scenic 
Byway is a beautiful landscape with 
rolling hills and valleys, and highly 
fertile soil. The Glacial Hills region 
includes one of the most famous Pony 
Express routes as well as Fort 
Leavenworth. The scenic byway begins 
at the intersection of K-7 and K-92 in Leavenworth, Kansas, and extends 63 miles north/south through 
northeast Kansas. Weston Bend bottomlands can be seen from Fort Leavenworth and has one of the 
best-preserved riparian bottomlands in Kansas. Other scenic views in Leavenworth include the Missouri 
River, Weston Bend State Park (Missouri), and Leavenworth State Fishing Lake.  



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 5 

What is negatively affecting our waterways? 
Our waterways are affected by wastewater from cities, failing septic 
tanks and pollutants found in stormwater runoff from commercial, 
residential, industrial and agricultural land uses in the community. 
Waterways are negatively affected by increases in stormwater and 
agricultural runoff rate and volume resulting in stream bank erosion. 
Other changes, such as accidental or intentional removal of trees and 
vegetation along streams contributes to increasing erosion.  
In addition, water pollution can come from buried sources such as 
leaking underground storage tanks, contaminated soils and pollutants 
deposited from the air. Watersheds are land areas that channel 
rainfall and snowmelt to creeks, streams, and rivers and eventually to 
outflow points like reservoirs, bays, and the ocean. As the water 
travels through the watershed, it can pick up pollutants and carry 
them across the land and into our waterways, eventually making 
their way into our food systems. There are three primary watersheds 
in Leavenworth: Salt Creek, Five Mile Creek, and Brush Creek. Each of 
these watersheds also have sub-watersheds which collectively flow 
together to form larger subbasins and river basins. In 2020, none of 
the creeks in Leavenworth were included on the Kansas Department 
of Health and Environment’s Section 303(d) List of Impaired Waters. 

Air quality and water quality are closely related because many of the 
same pollutants contaminate both resources. As seen in the air 
quality graphic, Leavenworth does not experience any days of 
unhealthy or hazardous air quality. This means fewer contaminants 
from the air are deposited into 
surface water.  

Stormwater management systems 
are owned or controlled by the 
City. They include pumping 
stations; enclosed storm sewers; 
outfall sewers; surface drains; 
street, curb and alley 
improvements associated with 
stormwater or surface water 
improvements; pipes; natural and 
manmade wetlands; channels; 
ditches and culverts; rivers, 
streams, and creeks; wet and dry 
bottom basins; and other flood 
control facilities. Stormwater management systems work to collect, transport, pump, treat, control, 
manage, and dispose of stormwater, surface water, and pollutants. 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 6 

Since the Missouri River borders Leavenworth, there are occasional challenges with flooding. The City 
Commission has supported stormwater pollution prevention by creating a “Stormwater Utility” funded by 
a fee on all properties that began in 2019. The fee is used to address longstanding stormwater problems 
in the community, typically including reduction or elimination of damaged roadways, culverts and 
streambanks. The Commission supports a staff goal to ensure that all public and private projects include 
some level of permanent water quality improvement. The City sponsors a “City Wide Clean-up” effort 
each year, which had 920 participants in 2019, and created a “Three-Mile Creek” monthly clean-up 
program for citizen groups (KDHE Report on Stormwater, City of Leavenworth, 2019). 

 

Leavenworth’s water quality management is regulated through the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit issued by KDHE. As a requirement of that permit, the City has 
developed a Stormwater Management Plan that addresses potential water quality concerns in the City as 
a result of both City operations and private activities. Leavenworth’s Department of Public Works is 
responsible for keeping up with permit requirements. The City’s plan includes six minimum control 
measures it must implement on an ongoing basis as part of its NPDES permit. 

 
Trends & Foresight: 
Renewable Energy: The use of renewable energy should grow rapidly over the next decade as related 
technologies become more efficient and cost-competitive with fossil fuel. Costs, climate protection goals, 
and ideals of energy independence will help them succeed. Environmental and economic sustainability 
have been growing topics of discussion regionally and nationally and they are intertwined. The 
environment and economy directly affect one another, especially in terms of resources. As non-
renewable resources deplete, their cost will increase, and it will become more economical to use 
renewable energy sources such as solar and wind to run communities. Climate change will affect water 
quality and quantity, air quality, temperature and more. Right now, Leavenworth has the opportunity to 
tackle climate change on the local level and become a more sustainable community. How can it do that? 
Leavenworth can encourage the use of natural resources in a sustainable way; monitor air quality and 
make sure high air quality is maintained; and work to decrease stormwater runoff into surface water 
resources like lakes and rivers.  
The location of wind power facilities should balance the energy-generation potential with any impacts to 
other natural resources such as wildlife. In particular, local and migrating bird (neotropical songbirds, 

Leavenworth currently encourages new development to incorporate one or more of the following:  

1. Opportunities for the integration of green power in the design of buildings or sites. Green 
power may be derived from solar, wind, geothermal, biomass, or low-impact hydro-electric 
sources 

2. Energy-efficient materials, including recycled materials that meet the requirements of this 
code 

3. A sustainable roof, such as one containing vegetation; and/or 
4. Materials and design specifications meeting the U.S. Green Building Council’s LEED-NC 

certification requirements. 

 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 7 

raptors, and waterfowl) populations may be negatively impacted. The Missouri River flyway is an 
important resource and can provide economic contributions (hunting and birdwatching). 

The renewable energy sector that was primed for new growth when the COVID-19 pandemic started in 
March 2020 and slowed with shelter-in-place orders, labor constraints, and supply chain disruptions. 
Although the industry is still adjusting to the full impact of the crisis, the outlook is changing rapidly. The 
short-term renewable energy pipeline may continue to slow depending on how the pandemic situation 
unfolds. Long-term trajectory for renewable energy sources at residential, community, and regional 
scales is anticipated to improve. 

Strategy 1: Provide recreational and education resources that promote healthy lifestyles.   

Local Actions: 

Education & Outreach 
• Educate the community about renewable energy sources. 

Practice Improvements 
• Utilize renewable resources at the local government level. 

Plan Development 
• Create a renewable energy plan. 

Policy & Code Adjustment  
• Adjust policy to allow for residential renewable energy generators like wind and solar. 

Partnership & Collaboration 
• Partner with local energy providers to incentivize the use of solar, wind, geothermal, etc. 

Inventory, Assessment or Survey 
• Take inventory of current renewable energy sources and who is using them.  

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• Update facilities to utilize energy resources.  

  



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 8 

Chapter 3: Harmony with Nature 

 

Sustainability 

Goal: Restore, connect, and protect natural habitats and sensitive lands and waterways. 
 

How do we plan for the impacts of climate change? 
How do we increase energy efficiency? 

What are the air quality issues specific to Leavenworth, Leavenworth County, and the Kansas City region? 
How do we reduce greenhouse gas emissions from the following sources: energy, transportation, 

wastewater system, water system, solid waste, and other community-wide sources? 
 

Recommendation:  Minimize adverse effects from natural and man-made events on the environment 
and public health.  

Context: 
Climate Change: Climate change refers to the long-term shift in global or regional climate patterns. 
Currently, our climate is changing due to human activities such as burning fossil fuels—natural gas, oil, 
and coal—that are increasing the level of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. The impacts of climate 
change are causing an increase in global temperatures, sea levels, glaciers melting, and severe weather. 
Preparing for climate change is about reducing the risk of climate change impacts to people, places, and 
resources, and increasing resiliency to these impacts. 
Cities plan for climate change by adopting strategies to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions (GHG), adapt 
to the impacts of climate change and improve resiliency to its negative effects. Mitigation strategies 
include actions like changing policies, design standards, land use and building codes. Green infrastructure, 
distributed energy systems, and public education are also popular strategies. Cities improve resiliency to 
climate change impacts when they approach planning in a more holistic way, recognizing not only the 
physical impacts of climate change but social and economic impacts as well.  

Currently, the State of Kansas has not developed a state-wide climate change adaptation plan. Within the 
Kansas City region, a coalition of local and regional leaders have developed the KC Climate Action 
Playbook (2019) and the KC Metro Climate Action Plan (2020). Both efforts are aimed at reducing GHGs 
and increasing the resiliency to climate change through a diverse set of strategies.  

Energy Consumption: According to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), using energy more 
efficiently is one of the fastest, most cost-effective ways to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, a primary 
cause of climate change. Energy efficiency can help mitigate the impacts of climate change by reducing 
energy consumption. Local governments can increase energy efficiency directly by implementing “green” 
energy in public facilities, reducing impervious areas in the city right of way, and incorporating green 
infrastructure into public infrastructure improvement projects. 

Energy efficiency also saves money, creates jobs, and helps communities meet growing energy demand. 
According to an EPA white paper, energy efficiency policies, and initiatives are proven to reduce 
electricity usage while also: 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 9 

• reducing energy costs for residents and businesses 

• decreasing stress on the electricity system 

• improving public health and the environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other 
pollutants, and  

• stimulating local economic development and job creation 

Transportation: Transportation efficiency is also essential when dealing with climate change and 
greenhouse gasses. Our typical vehicles emit nitrogen oxides and volatile organic compounds, which are 
also known as NOx and VOCs. These two groups of compounds, plus heat and sunlight, form ozone, which 
is an air pollutant and dangerous greenhouse gas. Ozone reduces air quality, and when it's at ground 
level, it causes respiratory issues such as asthma. Transportation is a significant source of NOx creation, 
responsible for nearly 50 percent of the NOx in the atmosphere, while power plants produce 20 percent. 
The other 30 percent comes from smaller sources, including industrial glass and concrete manufacturing 
and natural causes like lightning.  

 

Insight: 
A 2019 Weather Channel report ranks the Kansas City 
metro area fifth in a list of 25 U.S. cities that will face the 
most significant challenges related to climate change. 
According to the report, the Kansas City region will 
experience disruptions in the form of hotter temperatures, 
extreme drought and increased average rainfall coming in 
larger, less frequent storms. 
 

This report finds that the urban heat island effect will 
cause the Kansas City metro area to be warmer than the 
rural Midwest. Heat islands can develop because of 
buildings, roads, parking lots and other developed hard 
surfaces, absorb and retain heat. Due to Leavenworth's 
location in the Kansas City region, Leavenworth can expect 
to experience similar impacts of changing weather 
patterns and heat island effects.  



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 10 

Managing air quality in the Kansas 
City region is essential to 
protecting public health, the 
economy and environment. 
Federal and state regulatory 
agencies set acceptable air quality 
attainment levels based on human 
health impacts and environmental 
studies. Air monitors are located in 
each region to measure the 
concentration of pollutants in the 
air. Currently, Leavenworth has 
few issues with air quality, but this 
could change as development and 
hotter temperatures impact air quality throughout the Kansas City region.  

Communities can mitigate the heat island effect by decreasing impervious surfaces such as conventional 
rooftops, parking lots, streets and highways. Conventional development practices pose significant public 
health threats, increase energy demand, elevate ozone levels, increase greenhouse gas emissions and 
stormwater runoff. Reducing existing and new impervious areas will become more critical as the need to 
cool cities increase.   

In the Kansas City region, the coalition Climate Action KC was formed, consisting of elected officials and 
community leaders from the area. This coalition works to decrease greenhouse gasses, improve climate 
resilience, invigorate the economy, promote public health and improve the quality of life for residents 
throughout the region.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 11 

Trends & Foresight: 
Renewable Energy: As climate change impacts become more prevalent, working with Climate Action KC or 
creating a climate action plan for the community is a key strategy for seeking foresight into the future of 
climate change issues in the area. The Climate Action Playbook includes suggestions for reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions and preparing for a changing climate. 
Cities are moving toward green or renewable energy to prepare for the future. Those wanting to 
decrease energy consumption are working on funding for clean energy resource centers, improving 
training and enforcement of energy codes, and enacting renewable energy programs. Clean energy 
resource centers provide education and connections 
to local organizations working in clean energy and 
energy efficiency.  

Energy resource centers can also provide information 
about:  

• Green energy tax cuts 
• Rebates 
• Available green technologies 
• Bulk-purchasing discounts 
• Financing options  
• Energy-conscious contractors to perform 

services 
 

Cities are also adopting renewable energy friendly 
codes to prepare for and make it easier to install renewable energy sources such as solar panels and 
electric vehicle charging stations. Many places, including Shawnee, Kansas, have adopted solar-friendly 
land-use codes and permitting to make it easier, more affordable, and faster to get solar panels and 
encourage residents to use them. Some communities seek to ensure new homes are built with a 
sustainable future in mind through Solar Ready Roof ordinances. Other cities and organizations are 
installing on-site renewable energy generators including solar panels, wind farms, geothermal and 
storage for the created energy. 

Some organizations work to make it easier to purchase and use renewable energy sources. Evergy, a local 
power company, created a program to allow citizens and businesses to buy into carbon-free energy 
sources like wind farms. The program enables Evergy to be more carbon neutral and use energy from 
renewable resources to power homes and businesses.  

Lastly, cities are starting to offer bulk purchasing programs so residents can cut costs on solar energy 
materials and reduce the use of nonrenewable energy sources. Reduced costs for renewable energy 
equipment makes these systems more affordable for the average household and shortens the time to a 
return on investment. 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 12 

Transportation: Increasing the sustainability of 
transportation for the future involves focusing on 
walkability, green fuels, clean cars, mass transit, and 
cycling infrastructure. Communities actively addressing 
climate change are learning to focus on walkability even if 
they don’t have typical urban centers. Cities are learning 
to prioritize infill development and avoid or limit sprawl, 
which increases transportation systems to require more 
vehicles.  

Climate-conscious cities focus on green fuels and clean 
cars. Cities advocate that residents and the town itself 
purchase clean vehicles, like electric cars, or use green fuels like ethanol. Along with this, cities promote 
codes that prepare their streets for electric vehicles, including allowing charging stations and no-idle 
zones. Electric vehicles are most efficient when charged with renewable energy sources including solar 
and wind power. The addition of solar-powered charging stations, such as at parking lots, are also a viable 
solution. Charging cars with coal and natural gas produced electricity offsets the GHG emission gains—
although ethanol is a renewable energy source, the GHG footprint from fossil fuel inputs for growing 
corn, transportation, and ethanol production negates positive gains.  

Mass transit initiatives can also decrease energy use. Cities can work to increase ridership through 
strategies such as transit commuter incentive programs. The implementation of particular land 
use/development policies can also promote mass transit uses that encourage density and the use of 
transit-oriented development. Lastly, the promotion of bicycling through off-street, dedicated networks 
and Safe Routes to School programming can help people enjoy cycling safely while lowering their 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

    

Other Sustainability Initiatives: For sustainable water systems, implementing a leak detection program is 
an efficient way to conserve water and reduce energy consumption associated with water replacement.  

Sustainable solid and food waste programs also increase energy efficiency. Cities like Lawrence, Kansas, 
and the Kansas City and Shawnee Mission School Districts have implemented composting programs to 
decrease landfill waste.  

Cities are also updating codes and regulations to incentivize urban agriculture, which transforms yards, 
roofs, empty lots, and patios into productive green spaces. These repurposed spaces help alleviate the 
urban heat island effect, absorb rainwater runoff and carbon, and increase food access close to home.  

How cities promote walkability: 

• Complete streets planning  

• Sidewalk and infrastructure 
improvements  

• Updates to zoning codes (e.g., 
Allowing accessory dwelling units 
and reducing minimum parking 
requirements) 

 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 13 

Protecting land with valuable habitat and agriculture properties is a long-term strategy for making 
communities sustainable.   

Increasing carbon storage through vegetation and permeable surfaces can decrease the effects of climate 
change, air quality and the heat island effect. Practices like erosion control, soil conservation, tree 
planting, sustainable building practices, and native landscaping can help regulate the regional climate, 
improve or maintain air quality and provide other public health benefits.  

Uncertainty presents a significant challenge to planning for climate change, along with human and 
financial resources at the state, regional, and local level to ensure implementation of plans and strategies. 
More cities are focusing on implementing climate change plans and strategies. 

 

Strategy 1:  Stabilize floodplains and creek/riverbanks. 

Local Actions: 

Education & Outreach 
• Educate the community about the importance of waterways. 

Plan Development 
• Create a waterway protection plan with the community 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• Outlaw single use plastic straws and shopping bags 

Partnerships & Collaboration 
• Collaborate with local restaurants to reduce their consumption of waterways clogging plastic. 

Inventory, Assessment or Survey 
• Inventory current waterways and their cleanliness. 

Inventory, Assessment or Survey 
• Assess the needs of local waterways. 

Enforcement & Incentives 
• Incentivize trash cleanup with local competitions and prizes. 

Programs & Service 
• Start a waterway cleanup organization that includes sustainable living programming. 

 

 

Strategy 2: Plan for the impacts of climate change. 

Local Actions: 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT  Page | 14 

Education & Outreach 
• Educate the public on the impacts of climate change and how it will affect them. 

Plan Development 
• Create a climate action plan that gives direction on how to plan for the impacts of a changing 

climate. 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• Change local policy and code to allow for greener and more resilient building techniques 

Partnerships & Collaboration 
• Partner with a local university to research the local effects of climate change 

Inventory, Assessment or Survey 
• Assess what the needs of the community would be during a climate emergency and use that 

information to prepare for a climate emergency. 

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• Make infrastructure improvements to ensure they can withstand local climate emergencies 



 

Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper Outline                                                                                               
Page | 1  

 
 

LEAVENWORTH, KS 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Chapter 4: Resilient Economy 
 

Economic Activity and Workforce 
 

 
Goal 1: Leavenworth aspires to be a place that attracts progressive and sound 
private enterprises by offering affordable living, a high-quality workforce, and 
business resources to help nurture and support a thriving and sustainable 
economy. 
 

• How can we strengthen our education opportunities to grow our population and 
prosperity? 

• How do we attract new businesses to Leavenworth, and what business sectors 
should we focus on recruiting? 

• How do we take advantage of our regional proximity to attract employers to our 
region?  

• How do we strengthen recruitment and retention efforts? 
• What is our recruitment and retention sector focus? 
• What is our economic growth and change strategy? 
• How can we revitalize certain areas of town, such as Downtown or strip centers? 

 
 

Recommendation: Ensure Leavenworth's economy is sustainable and resilient. 
 
Context: 
Leavenworth continues to evolve from a stand-alone city to one among many suburbs. 
As the metro area expands, Leavenworth has become more of a choice for commuters 
working outside the city. But it also remains a crucial job center, driven by military needs 
which, in turn, generate ripple effects that support other businesses and jobs in the city. 
But Leavenworth seems also to be losing ground to the rest of Leavenworth County as 
a job center.  
 
Two crucial opportunities for the city emerge. One is to identify where and how the 
growing job market in the county and metro area can be more successfully captured 
within city limits. The other is to identify where and how the city can capture more of the 
region’s population growth regardless of where that population is employed. 
 
Moreover, Leavenworth’s evolution as a bedroom community leads to the need for 
effective housing policies and plans, a topic addressed in a separate section of this 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 2  

plan. Thus, it is important to recognize the fundamental overlap of economic 
development, housing, and quality of life. 
 
But it is not necessarily just housing that needs to be in the future for older structures. 
With projected robust growth in professional, scientific, and technical services in the 
metro area, older buildings are very often quite suitable for small business start-ups or 
incubators that help to promote such growth. The older buildings can have lower rents 
with an added benefit of being in, or close to, walkable and diverse mini-urban 
environments.  
 
 
Market Analysis - Buying Power 
The Environmental Systems 
Research Institute (Esri) Retail 
Marketplace Profiles quantify and 
compare local annual purchasing 
power for retail goods and for 
dining out. It also compares local 
annual sales from merchants in 
these categories. Economies 
characterized by an excess in 
purchasing power (demand) over 
sales (supply) indicate an 
opportunity to attract merchants 
and sales. Equally, when sales 
exceed demand, markets are 
presented with little justification to attract more merchants unless to replace existing 
ones.  
 
Esri reports that Leavenworth’s population has an annual buying power of $354.7 
million for retail and dining. However, sales in the city exceed this buying power by 
about $45 million. Local demand is being broadly satisfied; Leavenworth is virtually in 
equilibrium – as a city.  
 
The rest of Leavenworth County is out of balance with retail and dining sales outside 
Leavenworth are sitting at almost $186 million per year, yet the demand is almost four 
times that amount ($723.7M). A large amount of the demand for county residents must 
be satisfied elsewhere. This indicates a major opportunity for Leavenworth to create 
more retail stores and restaurants.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 3  

Market Analysis - Retail 
Sector Demand 
Three of Leavenworth’s 
retail sectors exhibit annual 
sales exceeding residents’ 
buying power. Sales at 
automobile dealers exceed 
resident demand by $89.7 
million, suggesting there 
are seven “too many” auto 
dealerships. These non-
residential sale figures 
represent local businesses’ 
success in attracting sales from passersby traveling nearby. Building supplies and 
grocery stores’ sales also exceed resident demand. The information does express the 
capability of local retailers to gain sales from outside the city.  
 
 
Market Analysis - Retail Under-Supplied 
Several major retail sectors have 
notably greater local demand than 
actual sales in Leavenworth. 
These represent sectors where 
more stores, square footage, or 
sales at existing merchants could 
be accommodated. The demand 
for gasoline stations in 
Leavenworth exceeds the supply 
for the current population. Even 
though the market supports an 
additional eight gasoline stations 
this is not the recommendation. It 
is important to understand an 
approximate $16.5 million in 
buying power in Leavenworth is 
being spent elsewhere. 
Conversely, home furnishings, 
clothing and accessories, restaurants and/or drinking establishments and miscellaneous 
small shops also could be supported in Leavenworth.  
 
Pull Factor  
The Kansas Department of Revenue tracks retail pull factors for various jurisdictions 
within the state. Pull factors express the difference between local income and actual 
ales as represented by sales tax collections. A pull factor of 1.0 indicates local sales are 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 4  

equivalent to local buying 
power. Communities strive to 
maintain or exceed a pull factor 
of 1.0 suggesting they capture a 
portion of the region’s buying 
power.  
 
Leavenworth city and county 
residents are spending a 
disproportionate amount of 
retail buying power is being 
spent outside the county – 
through some of the city’s 
buying power is likely spent somewhere else in the county. The numbers for the city 
seem contradictory to the ESRI data shown previously for the market, but 
Leavenworth’s pull factors have recovered to high historic levels, a sign the city has 
improved its ability to attract sales closer to buying power equivalency.   
 
Insight: 
Finances 
Sales and property taxes constitute 64 percent of the City of Leavenworth’s General 
Fund revenues. The General Fund provides expenditures for many City services and 
departments to maintain Leavenworth’s quality of life. Maintaining and even expanding 
these revenue sources is highly important to ensure the City remains fiscally 
sustainable. Tax revenue per capita is $658 per year.  
 
Leavenworth’s total sales tax rate is 9.5 percent, of which the City collects 2 percent. 
The County collects 1 percent, and the remaining 6.5 percent goes to the State of 
Kansas.  
 
As of the Leavenworth 2020 Budget, the City has a mill rate 
of 31.7 with a total property valuation that exceeds $219 
million.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 5  

 
 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) expenditures decreased by 2 million from fiscal years 
2019 – 2023 to the current CIP for fiscal years 2020 – 2025. CIP revenue sources 
include  

• County wide sales tax,  

• Capital Improvement Plan sales tax revenue, and  

• Tax Increment Financing (TIF) payouts.  
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 6  

Trends & Foresight: 
 
E-Commerce 
The rise in e-commerce, or 
online shopping has been 
steadily rising nationally for two 
decades. Online sales accounted 
for only one percent of retail 
sales in 2000. The peak for 
online sales hit 16.1 percent of all 
retail sales in April 2020. This 
spike reflects the response to 
stay-at-home mandates 
accompanying the COVID-19 
pandemic. The pandemic 
certainly accelerated e-
commerce sales above the trend line. Without, the pandemic, projections anticipated 
online sales reaching 10.5% of all retail sales nationwide by the end of 2020. As the 
nation finds a more normal balance in operations and consumers return to brick-and-
mortar shops, e-commerce remains important in terms of retail sales.  
 
Changes in consumer spending and shopping preferences impact the local, regional 
and national retail trends. The pandemic impacted how every trend will play out and 
retailers’ strategy for survival and resiliency planning for future potential economic 
crises.  
 
Technology 
The use of technology enables retailers to bring the convenience of online shopping to 
brick-and-mortar shops. The use of allowing customers to order and pay in-store and 
have goods delivered directly to your door. On the other side e-commerce merchants 
such as Amazon is beginning to establish cashier-less brick-and-mortar locations. The 
“Just Walk Out” retail concept utilizes the combination of cameras and sensors to allow 
customers to pick up items and just walk out – this concept does not require customers 
to download an app or wait in line to pay.  
 
Virtual Reality (VR) technology is increasing in use by online retailers to provide 
experiential shopping. Some retailers have already instituted VR tools during the 
pandemic to allow customers to virtually try out clothing and makeup, reducing the 
amount of contact between shoppers and in-store employees and merchandise.  
 
 
 
 
 
Goal: Leavenworth aspires to be a place that attracts progressive and sound 
private enterprises by offering affordable living, a high-quality workforce, and 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 7  

business resources to help nurture and support a thriving and sustainable 
economy. 
 
Strategy 1: Encourage community-based economic development and 
revitalization.  
 
Local Actions 
Education & Outreach 

• Continue to promote Leavenworth’s restaurants, retailers and lodging to the County and 
region through the Leavenworth Visitors Convention Bureau.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Promote and support local businesses that serve the needs of the community and are 
aligned with the community’s vision.  

 
Plan Development 

• Maintain Downtown Leavenworth as a vibrant and thriving retail.   

• Promote continuing development of the Business and Technology Park for future 
employers.  

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Maintain and enhance the Downtown District 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Continue partnership with Leavenworth Main Street program to promote and entice 
future small businesses in the Downtown District. 

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Identify viable local businesses that match regional workforce skillsets 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Increase investment in and revitalization of downtown, commercial strip areas, 
neighborhoods and other place-based community resources.  

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Encourage technology opportunities that enhance the business community.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Jobs & Workforce 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 8  

 
Goal 1: Ensure the employability of the entire workforce. 
 
Strategy 1: Develop and expand workforce development programs in technical 
education and retraining that enable middle-skill workers to increase their 
productivity and adaptability. Helping the “middle workers” upgrade their 
education, credentials, and skills. 
 

• How do we attract employers with good-paying jobs? 
• What are the opportunities by sector? 
• What are our local market and regional market opportunities? 

 
Goal 2: Maintain a diverse and valuable tax base. 
 
Strategy 2: Encourage the Professional, Scientific, Technological labor sector as 
the region attracts more of these jobs with these highly skilled jobs. 
 
 
Context 
 
Market Analysis - Employment Growth 
The U.S. Department of Labor projects the 
nation’s economy will add jobs at the rate 
of 0.4 percent per year between 2019 and 
2029. The Kansas Department of Labor 
projects a slightly slower rate (0.3% per 
year) between 2018 to 2028.  
Available employment projections for the 
Kansas City “region” of Kansas (as 
depicted encompasses the counties of 
Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Johnson, and 
Miami) are expected to add jobs at the rate 
of 0.9 percent per year between 2016 and 
2026.  
 
The state’s economy is projected to grow more slowly than the national economy while the 
regional economy is projected to grow more rapidly than the state or nation.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 9  

Market Analysis - Sector Growth 
Leavenworth saw a net of 12,470 jobs in 
2018 according to the U.S. Census 
Bureau “On-The-Map”. This was 1,135 
more than in 2005 for a 13-year growth 
rate of 10 percent. The largest single job 
sector in 2018 was health care and social 
assistance with 2,615 jobs within the City 
of Leavenworth. The retail trade and 
educational services followed closely 
behind. However, the public 
administration number is not fully 
reflective of all jobs in Leavenworth as the 
On-The-Map Series database does not 
track military jobs.  
 
In terms of military and public 
administration sectors, County-level data 
identifies the largest sector of employment 
in Leavenworth County in 2018 was -not 
surprisingly – the federal civilian sector 
with 4,388 jobs, almost 13 percent of all 
jobs in the county. Followed by military 
(10%), local government (10%) and retail 
trade (9%).  
 
 
Market Analysis - County Growth 
Leavenworth County outside of 
the City of Leavenworth is 
increasing employment more 
quickly than the city itself. As a 
result, the city’s share of the 
county’s total employment 
dropped from 72 percent to 65 
percent between 2002 and 
2018. Even though the data 
chart shows the city added over 
1,110 jobs in 16 years the city 
lost ground the rest of the 
county’s rapid growth.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 10  

Market Analysis - Employment Projections 
Employment projections for 
the City of Leavenworth and 
Leavenworth County 
suggest possible scenarios 
for Leavenworth that are 
not supportive of significant 
growth in the next ten 
years. A high projection 
scenario for the next 
decade (2020 – 2030), 
Leavenworth would add 
500 jobs (2%). The low 
projection scenario the city 
would lose two percent of 
its 2020 job counts.  
Meanwhile, jobs outside the city would increase much more rapidly, though still not reaching 
totals within the city itself. The high growth projection in the rest of Leavenworth County would 
add about 2,600 jobs while the low growth projection would add 2,000 in the next decade. As a 
result of these difference in job growth rates, Leavenworth’s share of the county’s jobs would 
decline from 65 percent in 2018, as shown earlier to 63 percent in 2030.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Projections show growth in the nation’s health care and social assistance sector at 17 percent 
more jobs in the next decade. Educational services expect to see job growth of 13 percent. 
Closely following behind and rapidly expanding job sector is the professional, scientific, and 
technical services (12%). The Kansas City, KS region expects to see employment sector growth 
and decline over the next ten years as follows:  



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 11  

• Transportation and warehousing – 
1.7% growth 

• Professional and business services – 
1.6% growth 

• Healthcare and social assistance – 
1.3% growth 

• Information – 2.4% decline 

• Manufacturing – 0.5% decline 

• Government – 0.5% decline 
 
Meanwhile the fastest growing sector in the 
Kansas City metro area, however, would be 
professional, scientific, and technical 
services at 26 percent over ten years. This 
suggests a need for more office-kinds of 
buildings including research labs. Health 
care and social assistance jobs are 
expected to grow by 12 percent, somewhat 
slower than the national rate, but this would 
also be only the fourth fastest growing 
sector in greater Kansas City. The arts and 
construction sectors would be second and 
third.  
 
 
Insight: 
Workforce 
Leavenworth’s workforce totals over 16,000 residents and includes 13,859 civilian employed 
residents 16 years and older. Over 60 percent of residents 16 years of age and older participate 
in the workforce. Leavenworth residents account for 1.4 percent of the Kansas City, Kansas and 
Missouri Metropolitan Area workforce.  
 

 
The U.S. Census Bureau’s OnTheMap 
series tracks employment inflow and 
outflow. According to their data, 
Leavenworth experiences a workforce 
outflow of 42 percent, meaning almost 
half of Leavenworth’s employed 
population works outside the 
community. People who live outside of 
Leavenworth and commute into town 
account for 38 percent. Twenty percent 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 12  

of Leavenworth’s employed residents also live within the community.  
 
Income Levels 
Leavenworth residents earn good wages with a median household income of $57,982 averaging 
higher than households in the state of Kansas. While Leavenworth County ranks higher than 
both the state and city with an average of $71,184.   
 
Commuters into Leavenworth in 2017 generally earned more than those living in Leavenworth. 
Of workers living elsewhere and commuting into Leavenworth, 44 percent earned more than 
$40,000 per year. In contrast, only 31 percent of those living in Leavenworth and working 
elsewhere earned more than $40,000 while only 28% of those living and working in 
Leavenworth earned more than $40,00 per year. The thousands of people commuting into 
Leavenworth are taking home more income than residents of Leavenworth are bringing back 
home.  
 

 
 
Leavenworth residents may earn a comfortable income, but 14.7 percent of the community 
experiences poverty. This figure compares to the poverty level for Leavenworth County of 8.9 
percent and 12.4 percent for the State of Kansas. The federal government defines the current 
poverty level for a family of four as an annual income of $26,500. An increase in poverty may 
suggest local employment opportunities are not sufficient to support residents.  

 
 
Workforce destination and income data sets suggest possibilities for growth. The out-commuting 
residents represent a sizeable labor force that might be retained in the city if appropriate jobs 
are attracted to the city. The in-commuters suggest a market for attracting them to become 
residents of the city – a place with which they are familiar and they bring relatively high earnings 
for housing development and retail sales.  
 
Education Attainment 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 13  

Twenty-three percent of Leavenworth adults achieved an education level of “some college, no 
diploma,” and 28 percent received a high school diploma or GED. Just over 8 percent did not 
receive a high school diploma. These figures total over half of Leavenworth’s adult population. 
Increased access to education and workforce development training improves workforce skills 
and employment opportunities.  

 
 
Trends & Foresight: 
 
Regional Growth 
The federal government’s presence in Leavenworth for close to two centuries has been critical 
and supportive concerning economic activity and multiplier effects for other sectors. But a 
diversified economic growth strategy is a necessity as the metropolitan economy expands and 
Leavenworth continues to evolve not a stand-alone “first city” but a significant part of the region. 
Leavenworth should strive for a more balanced distribution of jobs and economic activity that 
includes sectors dominated by the private market. Thus, Leavenworth’s current efforts to 
promote and develop its business and technology park are to be commended and reinforced. 
 
Economic growth projections for metropolitan Kansas City (2016 -2026) favor, for the time 
being, businesses in the following sectors: 
 

• Professional and technical services (11,800 more jobs and 26% job growth),   

• Specialty trade contractors (3,000 more jobs, 17% growth), and  

• Ambulatory health care services (3,200 more jobs, 15% growth) 
 
Virtually all of the sectors that traditionally would occupy an “industrial park” are projected to 
lose employment by 2026, so it is wise that Leavenworth is touting its new growth as a 
“business and technology park” where businesses in the strongest growth sector will be 
welcome. A focus of the park can be businesses that serve the military and health care sectors, 
in particular because the two sectors make up the bulk of the “export industries” of 
Leavenworth. (Export industries bring more money into a city or region than the local market, 
alone, would support. Recirculation of those “outside dollars” through local purchases and 
employees creates substantial multiplier effects.) 
 
Potential Workforce Enhancements 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 14  

1. Growth of the new business and technology park to accommodate regional growth in, 
especially, the professional and technical services (research, consultants, laboratories, etc.). 
In light of changing workplace norms due to the Covid-19 pandemic, however, there will 
likely be substantial changes and expectations in floor plans, HVAC systems, and public 
safety protocols. 
 

2. Training and educational upgrades for the Leavenworth workforce to qualify for jobs in 
this and related sectors. Training for existing workers can take place at existing institutions 
of higher learning, but also might result from attracting private firms to, say, downtown 
buildings that are easily accessible to the surrounding population and could promote more 
downtown commerce. 
 

3. Attracting headquarters kinds of facilities (regional, divisional, etc.) would put 
Leavenworth more squarely in the top employment sector of the metropolitan area: 
management of enterprises. Such offices also require higher-educated and trained 
personnel, contributing to the city’s ability to weather future economic storms. 
 

4. Housing policies and neighborhood improvements attract more of the workforce that 
commutes to Leavenworth from elsewhere to become residents of Leavenworth. This might 
provide a base of investment to upgrade declining neighborhoods and a source of buying 
power to support downtown revitalization.  
 

 
Skilled Workforce Rise in Industrial Sectors 
Higher skills and education apply even in manufacturing and related industrial sectors where 
automation and robotics perform a wide range of routine functions. The design, programming, 
and management of machines and artificial intelligence require high-level skills and problem-
solving. Most of the remaining jobs require greater skills and education. In the realm and many 
other sectors, there has also evolved a need for a great many more well-educated and trained 
scientific and technical workers.  
 
Meanwhile, a great many formerly “middle-skill” jobs have disappeared from the American 
economy as artificial intelligence and robotics have moved into almost every sector. This has 
forced many under-skilled or under-educated workers (in today’s terms) to seek jobs in other 
sectors. Without higher-level training or education, however, such workers cannot “move up” in 
the economic order, but can “move down” to lower-skilled positions. This is true even in the 
military where high technology has replaced a great many jobs previously performed by, 
especially, enlisted personnel. With more labor available for lower-skilled jobs, of course, wages 
become depressed.  
 
Helping “middle workers” to upgrade their education credentials and skills, therefore, is vital for 
the entire economy and for Leavenworth itself. Resources to support the completion of college 
educations, certificate programs, and even apprenticeships will add to the economic growth 
capacity of Leavenworth’s labor force along with enhancing each individual’s ability to earn 
more income and adapt to inevitable future changes in the American economy.  
 
 

Goal 1: Ensure the employability of the entire workforce. 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 15  

Strategy 1: Develop and expand workforce development programs in technical 
education and retraining that enable middle-skill workers to increase their 
productivity and adaptability. Helping the “middle workers” upgrade their 
education, credentials, and skills. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Create an “internal marketing plan” to inform local leaders about these assets so that 
they become ambassadors for the economic advantages of Leavenworth. 

• Create an “external marketing plan” to inform the rest of the metropolitan area and the 
nation about these assets so that they become a basis for economic development 
attraction and expansion. 

• Encourage emphasis also on the Arts (STEAM), including humanities, to assure well-
rounded education for K-12 students. 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Increase and support attraction and retention of military veterans who have obtained 
substantial occupational skills training and education to jobs in Leavenworth businesses. 

• Cultivate job creation through improved linkages between educational institutions and 
full-time employment opportunities with Leavenworth companies. 

• Expand apprenticeship, mentorship, and job-shadowing programs that encourage youth 
to consider rewarding careers. 

 
Plan Development 

• Prepare a strategic plan encompassing those opportunities where Leavenworth can play 
a lead role for its own destiny 

 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Convene business, government, and philanthropic leaders from throughout the greater 
Leavenworth area to discuss opportunities for growth and collaboration.  Identify local-to-
global trends and forces in technology, business practices, construction, infrastructure, 
and human behavior. 

• Expand technical, post-secondary education at regional community colleges, 
universities, and specialty schools.  Collaborate with community colleges, workforce 
development centers, and employers to increase workforce “soft” skills. 

• Evaluate and adapt local educational and training institutions and educators to better 
collaborate with Fort Leavenworth for its training needs.  

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Identify, inventory, and map the city’s business, educational, and infrastructure assets 
upon which future economic development can be built. 
 

Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 16  

• Develop comprehensive STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) 
programs and early education resources and curricula to create a prosperous and high 
adaptable future workforce. 

• Create talent attraction and retention programs for highly educated and skilled 
individuals by partnering with Fort Leavenworth to identify career and former military 
personnel who could be interested in Leavenworth for post-military services.  

• Development comprehensive programs to strengthen STEM curricula throughout 
Leavenworth’s K-12 schools. 

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Ensure that employed parents, particularly those in need of upgraded training and 
education, have access to high-quality child care at affordable prices. 

 
 

Goal 2: Maintain a diverse and valuable tax base. 
 
Strategy 2: Encourage the Professional, Scientific, Technological labor sector as 
the region attracts more of these jobs with these highly skilled jobs. 
 
Local Actions: 
Education & Outreach 

• Market Leavenworth, and its high quality of life, to regional, national and international 
audiences to attract a larger STEM workforce.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Create an office of innovation within city government or attached to related associations. 

• Attract more private sector economic development that contributes to real estate 
property taxes for use throughout Leavenworth. 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Incorporate housing and neighborhood improvement goals in all economic development 
strategies and plans, while incorporating economic and workforce development goals in 
all housing and neighborhood strategies and plans. 

•  
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Work with housing and neighborhood leaders to assure that Leavenworth’s housing 
stock and neighborhood settings are attractive, safe, clean, and well-functioning. 

•  
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Evaluate the city’s use of retail sales taxes in light of ever-changing retail sales practices 
that may enable taxpayers to avoid local taxes. 

• Identify viable local businesses that match regional workforce skillsets 

•  
 



Leavenworth 2030 Plan – Element Paper DRAFT                                                                                          
Page | 17  

Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Develop comprehensive STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) 
programs and early education resources and curricula to create a prosperous and high 
adaptable future workforce. 

• Create talent attraction and retention programs for highly educated and skilled 
individuals by partnering with Fort Leavenworth to identify career and former military 
personnel who could be interested in Leavenworth for post-military services.  

• Development comprehensive programs to strengthen STEM curricula throughout 
Leavenworth’s K-12 schools. 

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Renovate and redevelop real estate of all kinds using sustainability practices that assure 
use of renewable energy resources, minimize water and waste, and utilize locally 
sources materials. 



  

Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                      Page | 1  
 

 
 
 

LEAVENWORTH, KANSAS  
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Chapter 5: Healthy Community 
 

Public Health & Well-Being 
 
 
Goal 1: Support a healthy community by promoting healthy development, healthy behaviors and 
wellbeing for all people and stages of life. 

• How can we support community health? 
• How do we improve access to physical and mental healthcare services? 
• How do we improve opportunities for making heathy lifestyle choices? 
• What opportunities and challenges are associated with the elimination of services at Cushing 

Memorial Hospital? 
 
Recommendation:  Provide recreational and healthy lifestyle connections, programming and funding 
for all - aging, mental and physical health needs. 
  
Context: 
In the U.S., distance to healthcare facilities, quality of care, and lack of insurance or financial capability to 
pay for services are common barriers to accessing healthcare services. People who do not have access to 
medical facilities are less likely to obtain preventive health care. Routine medical visits can reduce the 
risks of developing severe health issues and chronic illnesses. 
 
Good mental health is essential for the overall well-being of an individual. Communities whose residents 
and workforce are mentally and physically healthy are more resilient and sustainable. Globally, 1 in 4 
people will experience mental health difficulties. The World Health Organization projects that a failure to 
treat depression and anxiety costs the world $1 trillion per year. Mental health services are beyond 
capacity in Leavenworth and do not meet community needs. Unaddressed mental health issues lead to 
increases in ER visits that limit access for others, more police calls, and other social concerns such as 
homelessness and unemployment. 
 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development estimates that 26 percent of homeless adults in 
shelters live with serious mental illness—nearly 46 percent live with severe mental illness and/or 
substance use disorders. Unsheltered individuals in Leavenworth likely also suffer from mental illness. 
 
Obesity affects almost 1 in 5 children and 1 in 3 adults, putting people at risk for developing chronic 
diseases like diabetes, heart disease, stroke, and cancer. Childhood obesity has more than tripled in the 
past 30 years. Obesity currently costs the U.S. healthcare system $147 billion per year. That figure will rise 
without significant, comprehensive intervention.  
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 2  
 

People who use parks and open spaces are three times more likely to achieve recommended physical 
activity levels than non-users. Obesity and other adverse health outcomes correlate to the amount of 
time spent traveling in vehicles and sedentary lifestyles. Increased walking and other physical activity are 
shown to improve health outcomes, and the most significant health benefits occur when the least active 
people become even slightly more active. 
 
Combating unhealthy behaviors such as physical inactivity and obesity, which often lead to chronic 
disease, is a widespread challenge. Local government is in a unique position to reduce the negative 
outcomes of chronic illnesses by planning infrastructure, development projects, and recreation 
programming to support healthy lifestyles. Studies demonstrate that access to nature—parks, open space 
or even just street trees—positively impacts community health. The ability to walk or bike to parks, gyms 
and neighborhood retail and service businesses increases physical activity. Farmers’ markets provide 
access to healthy food—another option that promotes mental wellness by increasing the potential for 
social interaction with friends and neighbors and strengthening a sense of community. 
          
 
 
Insight: 
Overall Health & Wellness of Leavenworth Residents 
The County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (CHR&R) program is a collaboration between the Robert Wood 
Johnson Foundation and the University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute. The program assesses 
the community health of most counties in all 50 
states and focuses on multiple factors 
that influence health. In the CHR&R 
2020 assessment, Leavenworth County 
ranked 18th for health outcomes and 71st 
in health factors out of the 104 Kansas 
counties included in the assessment. 
According to the County Health Rankings 
model outcomes are based on length and 
quality of life, and a number of health 
factors. The model measures each of 
the categories found in the image to 
the right, to calculate a rank for 
counties. Leavenworth County fairs well 
in comparison to the State of Kansas in 
most categories, while ranking higher than 
the U.S. Top preforming cities.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Access to Care: Health Facilities in Leavenworth and Surrounding Area 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 3  

Nearly 95 percent of Leavenworth residents have health 
insurance. In July 2020, St. Luke’s Health Systems 
announced the closure of Cushing Memorial Hospital, one 
of Leavenworth’s two public hospitals. Cushing had 52 beds 
and provided cardiac rehabilitation, emergency services, 
diagnostic imaging and radiology, and lab services. 
Although the hospital services ceased, the primary care 
offices remain open. 
 
St. John Hospital remains in service as an acute-care 
hospital with 80 licensed beds and a 150-year history of serving the community. It specializes in 
compassionate care, ambulatory services, surgery, senior behavioral health, oncology, emergency 
services and rehabilitation. Originally owned by the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth Health Systems Inc., 
both St. John Hospital and Providence Medical Center, located in Kansas City, Kansas, were acquired by 
Prime Healthcare. After a combined operating loss of $78 million over the past decade, St. John Hospital 
and Providence Medical Center were on an unsustainable path. These two hospitals work in a shared 
network and the larger, 400-bed Providence Medical Center fills service gaps for St. John Hospital 
including with a senior behavioral health unit. To transition previous St. Luke’s patients, Humana Health 
insurance is now accepted at St. John Hospital and Providence Medical Center.  
 
St. John Hospital Priorities: 
 Filling overall service gaps 
 Outpatient urgent care 
 Improved Emergency Department 
 Maintaining staff levels during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond 

 
Medical services for Active Duty and Retired Military 
The Dwight D. Eisenhower Veterans Affairs Medical Center serves veterans in Eastern Kansas, including 
nearly 12 percent of Leavenworth County’s veterans. The Eisenhower VA Medical Center serves more 
than 100,000 outpatient visits each year at the 
38-bed hospital, which includes a 40-bed 
nursing home and a 150-bed domiciliary care 
program. VA Outpatient Services include:  

• Cardiology 
• Dental 
• Dermatology 
• Gastroenterology 
• Hematology 
• Hepatitis C 
• Neurology 
• Oncology 
• Pulmonary 
• Renal 
• Rheumatology 
• Wound Care 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 4  
 

The Fort Leavenworth Munson Hospital provides 
primary care services for active-duty military personnel. 
The Munson Army Health Center specializes in Family 
Medicine, Internal Medicine, Hematology/Oncology, 
Medical Oncology, Psychiatry, Family Medicine with a 
nurse practitioner and four physicians. 
 
The Guidance Center (TGC) is Leavenworth’s 
community mental health center, which provides 
outpatient and inpatient behavioral health services, 
including individual, family and group counseling, 
psychiatric care, addiction treatment, community 
support services for those with severe and persistent mental illness, and emergency services. In 2018, 
TGC provided services to 2,825  
 
(include map of medical facilities and use photos from above) 
 

 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 5  

In 2019, a Leavenworth County Task Force convened to examine the “the nature and scope of the crisis 
facing the mentally ill in Leavenworth County.” Key findings include: 
 
 775 emergency room visits for suicidal/homicidal ideation or depression (2018) 
 Leavenworth County reports the highest rate of hospital discharges for mental health visits for 

people ages 15-24 in the KC Metro Area 
 From 2012–18 the Leavenworth Police Department averaged 195 suicide calls per year 
 Juveniles with diagnosed mental illness received insufficient treatment at the Leavenworth 

County Community Corrections Program 
 An increase in risk factors for youth experiencing depression and suicidal thoughts, substance 

abuse, and problem behaviors (2019 Kansas Communities That Care Student Survey) 
 
 The following table shows how Leavenworth County spending compares to that of other Kansas counties. 
The statewide average for mental health funding is $11.62 per capita. 
 

 
 
The Interfaith Community of Hope is a nonprofit organization serving the needs of the homeless in 
Leavenworth. Its data shows the number of unsheltered people as increasing. Still, chronic homelessness 
(those repeatedly without shelter) is growing at an even faster rate. 
 
Access to Care 
In July 2020, the AARP Livability Index rated Leavenworth's "access to care" in the top third compared to 
communities across the US. The closing of Cushing Memorial Hospital will dramatically decrease the types 
and availability of services provided in the City. Although there are other hospitals within a 15-minute 
drive of Leavenworth, the distance may be a barrier to access. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Healthy Lifestyle Choices 

Source: 2019 Leavenworth County Mental Health Task Force Report 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 6  
 

Leavenworth provides abundant parks and open space, with nearly 12 acres of parkland for every 1,000 
residents. Nearly 47 percent of Leavenworth residents live within a 10-minute walk to a park. A variety of 
recreation opportunities are available through the Riverfront Community Center, Wollman Aquatic 
Center and the City of Leavenworth Parks and Recreation Department. 
 
The Leavenworth Farmer’s Market is open from May through early October, offering fresh produce and 
locally made products. The Farmer’s Market participates in the Double Up Food Bucks program, a SNAP 
matching opportunity, making healthy food options more accessible to SNAP participants. 
 

 
Trends & Foresight: 
 
Access to Care 
Consumer Demand & Technology 
Consumers are now demanding more choice and participation in their health care. In response, providers 
are changing business models to increase convenience and access, decrease costs, and engage 
consumers. At the same time, providers are implementing cost control measures to maintain or increase 
revenues. Consumers and providers must adapt to ever-changing public and private health insurance 
programs.   
 
The Prime Healthcare acquisition of local St. John Hospital and Providence Medical Center is an example 
of the rise in institutional healthcare mergers across the country. The Healthcare Financial Management 
Association reported several reasons to explain the trend of independent hospitals merging with other 
hospitals or larger national entities. The shift is primarily due to increased pressure to reduce the cost of 
care, improve the coordination of care delivery, and assume financial risk for the health outcomes of 
patient populations. Organizations seek partners with the resources to help add new capabilities, achieve 
economies of scale, enrich clinical outcomes data, or widen access to services. 
 
Mental Health First Response 
A November 2016 study published in the American Journal of Preventative Medicine estimated that 20–
50 percent of fatal encounters with law enforcement involved an individual with mental illness. To 
address this trend, an increasing number of cities are adopting a mental health co-responder program, 
where a therapist, mental health counselor, social worker, or treatment professional works alongside law 
enforcement in the community. The behavioral health specialist’s role is to assist an individual in distress, 
de-escalate situations, and put individuals in contact with support services or treatment programs.  
 
Other communities implement community-based public safety strategies based around behavioral health 
experts responding to non-violent crises instead of the police. Eugene, Oregon, uses a model program, 
Crisis Assistance Helping Out On The Streets (CAHOOTS), that mobilizes two-person teams consisting of a 
medic and a mental health worker. In 2017, the teams answered 17 percent of the Eugene Police 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 7  

Department's calls. Last year, only 150 of the 24,000 team responses required police backup. CAHOOTS 
focuses on non-violent resolutions and responders do not carry weapons. The teams handle non-
emergency medical issues to avoid costly ambulance transport and emergency room treatment. 
 
CAHOOTS services include, but are not limited to: 
 Crisis counseling 
 Suicide prevention, assessment, and intervention 
 Conflict resolution and mediation 
 Grief and loss 
 Substance abuse 
 Housing crisis 
 First aid and non-emergency medical care 
 Resource connections and referrals 
 Transportation to services 

 
Impact of COVID-19  
The novel COVID-19 virus exposed inequalities in the economy and healthcare system worldwide. The 
virus is an unprecedented threat to vulnerable populations who often have the least access to 
information, resources, healthcare, and insurance. Older adults are often at a higher risk of contracting 
COVID-19—a major concern for Leavenworth as nearly 12 percent of its population is 65 years or older. 
Nationwide data indicates black populations and other minorities die at a higher rate from COVID-19 than 
white Americans. Nearly 25 percent of Leavenworth’s population identifies as a minority. Unequal access 
to healthcare and pre-existing health conditions such as asthma (often related to living environments) 
partially explains these disparities. Rural hospitals are maxed out on hospital beds and sending COVID-19 
patients to larger facilities, and Leavenworth’s St. John Hospital is experiencing the challenges of an 
overwhelmed staff. 
 
Encouraging Healthy Lifestyles 
A healthy lifestyle is defined as embracing more holistic behaviors, emphasizing physical fitness, healthy 
eating, and mental well-being. The global rise in mental health disorders has prompted many cities to 
develop proactive mental wellness approaches. Traditionally, the provision of mental health treatment is 
introduced after symptoms occur. New methods focus on prevention, with one such campaign involving 
local government, hospitals, communities, and school staff collaboratively identifying effective prevention 
methods. Such efforts emphasize that mental health is as vital as physical health for community health.  
 
Communities support the physical and mental health of their residents when they provide healthy 
lifestyle options and amenities. Parks, open space and recreation opportunities are examples of amenities 
that help to create a healthy community. Farmers’ markets serve a similar function by providing access to 
healthy food options that are often more affordable than brick and mortar grocery store products. 
 
 

Strategy 1: Provide recreational and education resources that promote healthy lifestyles. 

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• Create a marketing plan to increase awareness of parks and recreation programs 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 8  
 

Practice Improvements 
• Create a marketing plan to increase awareness of parks and recreation programs 

 

Plan Development 
• Develop a parks and recreation master plan  

 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• Implement a Health in All Policies (HiAP) approach to policy review and adoption. HiAP is a 

collaborative approach to improving the health of all people by incorporating health 
considerations (social, physical and economic) into decision-making.  

 

Partnerships & Collaboration 
• Partner with school district, the health care providers and non-profits to create an integrated 

approach to healthy community lifestyles. 
• Collaborate with local grocers or farmers market vendors to create mobile or pop-up markets in 

underserved areas of the community. 
 

Inventory, Assessment, or Survey 
• X 

 

Enforcement & Incentives 
• Consider regulations to limit or ban smoking and vaping in public outdoor spaces. 

 

Programs or Services 
• Expand healthy lifestyle programming for all ages and abilities at City parks and facilities. 
• Establish a community garden.  

 

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• Continue building and filling in gaps in sidewalks, bike lanes and trails.  
• Add more fitness and exercise equipment, suitable for a broad range of ages and abilities, in 

parks and public spaces.  
 
 
 
 

 

 

Strategy 2: Remove barriers to physical and mental health care.  

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• Develop educational programming and marketing about health care services and resources. 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 9  

Practice Improvements 
• Increase low or no-cost transportation options to health care facilities. 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 

Policy & Code Adjustment 
• x 

 
Partnerships & Collaboration 

• Encourage partnerships between providers and school districts to provide mental and physical 
health services in school facilities. 

• Collaborate with Leavenworth County, health care providers and community agencies to increase 
the accessibility and availability of mental health services. 
 

Inventory, Assessment, or Survey 
• X 

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 

Programs or Services 
• Create a mental health co-responder program. 
• Create opportunities for pop-up, neighborhood-based service providers (e.g., mobile health care 

in parks) to increase health care accessibility. 
 

Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 
• x 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Safety 
 
 
Goal 1: Create an environment which the people and visitors of Leavenworth feel safe by providing 
outstanding and effective fire, police and other emergency services.  



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
10  
 

• How do we improve public safety? 
• How do we build a stronger relationship between public safety services and the community? 

 
Recommendation: Provide outstanding public safety services and grow community relationships. 
  
Context: 
Public safety is an essential component of a community’s overall quality of life. Public safety services in 
Leavenworth include police and fire protection, animal control, and parking enforcement.  
  
Police Department 
The Leavenworth Police Department 
has five districts and is staffed by 
61 full-time sworn police officers. 
The Department operates within 
the Justice Center it shares with 
the Leavenworth County 
Sheriff’s Office. The Department 
has memorandums of 
understanding with Fort 
Leavenworth, the United States Federal 
Penitentiary Leavenworth, the CoreCivic Detention Facility and the Leavenworth School District to provide 
a variety of public safety services. The Department operates an 8,800-square-foot Animal Control Facility 
with a variety of equipment necessary for dealing with domestic and wild animals. The Police Department 
currently uses the Lansing Correctional Facility’s gun range for training and practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The crime rate in Leavenworth has declined in recent years, but it remains higher than the State of Kansas 
and national rates. During the past several years, assault and theft are Leavenworth’s most-reported 
crimes.  
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
11  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
There were 21,448 criminal offenses reported in Leavenworth during the past five years and 25,133 calls 
for service in 2019. Department goals stated in the City’s FY2020 budget include addressing a recent 
upward trend in domestic violence cases and providing officers training related to technological 
advancements in crime analysis and mapping. 
 
Police departments around the country are leveraging technology to help them reduce crime and 
improve public safety. 
 
The Leavenworth Police Department actively seeks ways to improve its relationship with the community. 
Initiatives include supporting social services, community policing and engaging the community in a variety 
of ways. Continuing to focus on community engagement is a department goal stated in the FY2020 
budget. The Police Department developed a robust community engagement program that includes a 
Summer Camp, Trust Talk, and Coffee with a Cop. All program activities were created to cultivate positive 
interactions between police and the community.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
12  
 

Fire Department 
The Leavenworth Fire Department 
has 53 full-time firefighters/EMTs, 
deploying from three fire stations 
with less than two miles of 
overlapping response districts. The 
Department provides mutual aid to 
Lansing and Fort Leavenworth. The 
Fire Department provides services 
that include fire prevention 
training, fire suppression, 
protection, search and rescue 
operations, medical services, 
inspections, and response to 
environmental emergencies. 
 
 
The Fire Department conducts approximately 700 building fire inspections annually. In 2019 the 
Department responded to 2,750 alarm, 49 fire and 1,702 EMS calls. The Department’s five pumper trucks 
and two aerial trucks meet the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 1901 Standard for Automotive 
Fire Apparatus.  
 
The Fire Department supports efforts to improve community 
safety in a variety of ways: 

• Adoption of the 2018 International Fire Code; 
previously they worked from the 2006 
International Code.  

• Amendment of the City’s open burning 
regulations to prohibit barrel burning. Open fires 
are now only allowed by permit twice each year, 
per property. In addition to reducing the risk of 
fire to residential structures, the new regulations 
will help improve air quality. 

• Offering public education programs, including a 
smoke detector installation program and CPR 
classes. It provides smoke detectors to 
homeowners free of charge as part of a grant-
funded initiative. Firefighters distribute and also 
install the smoke detectors. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
13  

  
 
The Fire Department’s ability to earn an ISO 2 rating demonstrates 
the Department’s efforts to improve public safety. A good ISO rating 
is an indicator of how safe a community is and impacts the 
community's insurance rates. It’s determined by the NFPA based on 
a number of factors, including response times and fire flow from a 
community’s water system.  
  
Recruitment and retention of firefighters is a challenge, as 
Leavenworth competes with other departments for fire service 
candidates. Another challenge is the age of Fire Station #3. However, a new station is programmed in the 
City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for replacement in the next few years.    
Z 
Region L Hazard Mitigation Plan 
An increased frequency of extreme weather presents a risk to property, infrastructure, and human safety, 
and can result in biodiversity loss, water supply issues, population migration, and economic loss. 
Leavenworth participates in the Region L Hazard Mitigation Plan, which ensures the City remains eligible 
for federal assistance through the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  
 
Insight 
Both the Leavenworth Police and Fire Departments face challenges when filling job vacancies, especially 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Fire Department revised its application process to make it more 
flexible and open to a wider range of potential candidates. Updating the hiring and testing processes is 
consistent with best practices employed by police and fire departments across the country to address 
recruitment and retention concerns. 
 
The same factors that contribute to any community’s ability to attract talented healthcare, technical and 
other skilled workers apply to public safety personnel. Quality workforce housing, recreation and 
entertainment amenities, strong schools and competitive salaries are all factors that help strengthen the 
City’s attraction and retention efforts.  
 
The police department leverages technology to target crime 
and improve community relations in a variety of ways. The 
Department initiated an Interactive Crime Mapping 
program that allows citizens to monitor the City’s high-risk 
areas and report criminal activity.   
 
Technology aids the Department in its efforts to engage the 
community. Two public forums scheduled this summer on 
the use of police force are available for livestreaming so 
those who cannot attend can still have virtual access to the 
forum. Electronic police reporting will free up a 
considerable amount of time for police officers, who will 
have more time to focus on community engagement and 
more serious or high priority crimes. 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
14  
 

The Department is also working to make police reports completely electronic and is awaiting State 
approval to implement this program. Coordination with the State is needed to ensure consistent data 
collection, and the City will be required to meet the State’s stringent data security requirements. Once 
approved, police reports for incidents and minor crimes can be submitted by residents online from home 
or via kiosks located in the Justice Center.  
 
Safe cities attract new development and give businesses confidence to invest in the community. The Fire 
Department’s ability to achieve an ISO 2 rating, for example, benefits the community because it translates 
to lower insurance rates. This strengthens the City’s ability to recruit new businesses. The Police 
Department’s efforts to engage with residents and businesses in a positive way impacts the community’s 
overall perception of safety, which is closely related to a community’s health and overall quality of life. 
Residents who feel safe in their community are more likely to be active, engage in healthy activities like 
walking and biking, and feel less isolated.   
 
Trends & Foresight: 
Community Policing 
In its 2015 report on police-community relations in America’s cities, the United States Conference of 
Mayors’ first recommendation for communities looking to build trust with law enforcement was to 
implement community policing initiatives. Dr. Robert Friedmann of Georgia State University and the 
founding director of the Georgia International Law Enforcement Exchange was one of the first to define 
community policing in 1992:   
 
 

 
 
 
Specialized Responses to Mental Health Incidents 
In its 2019 Annual Report, the Leavenworth Police Department noted that responding to mental health 
related calls can be the most difficult and dangerous for officers. Nationally estimates show that between 
7–10 percent of police-citizen encounters involve someone with a mental health condition. The crisis 
intervention team model was created to help police departments more effectively and safely respond to 
calls for service involving individuals in mental health crisis. In Colorado, a pilot program that places 
behavioral health clinicians alongside police officers during 9-1-1 responses and routine patrols has 
proven successful and is expanding from three police department to 12. Funding in the amount of $16 
million is available from the Colorado Department of Human Services to support similar efforts 
undertaken by other police departments and sheriff's offices. 
 
Attraction and Retention of Public Safety Personnel 
Fire departments across the country are finding it more difficult to attract high quality recruits. A 2017 
study published in the Journal of the NPS Center for Homeland Security and Defense cites generational 
differences as contributing to this perceived issue. Specifically, fire departments have not been successful 

Community Policing is a policy and a strategy aimed at achieving more effective and 
efficient crime control, reduced fear of crime, improved quality of life, improved police services 

and police legitimacy, through a proactive reliance on community resources that seeks to 
change crime causing conditions. This assumes a need for greater accountability of police, 

greater public share in decision making, and greater concern for civil rights and liberties 

https://www.denverpost.com/2018/01/02/colorado-police-paired-with-behavioral-health-clinicians-mental-illness-drug-addiction/
https://www.denverpost.com/2018/01/02/colorado-police-paired-with-behavioral-health-clinicians-mental-illness-drug-addiction/


Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
15  

at recruiting millennial talent. According to the study, outdated marketing, hiring and testing practices are 
partially to blame.  
 
Communities across the country are looking for creative ways to attract and retain talented public safety 
personnel. The City of Dayton, Ohio, developed the Homegrown Heroes Program, an initiative that seeks 
to recruit, engage and mentor current city employees who are eligible to take promotional examinations 
for police and fire department positions. The program represents a significant change in the city’s civil 
service hiring process. They also collaborated with Dayton Public Schools to launch a Fire/EMS career tech 
program. 
 
Cybersecurity 
The number of cyberattacks against city governments has grown in recent years. This trend should lead to 
more cities cracking down on how they protect their network infrastructure and data. According to 
Smartcitiesdive.com, cities have increasingly become targets for attacks due to their lack of substantial 
cybersecurity networks. https://computer.howstuffworks.com/how-wireless-mesh-networks-work.htm 
 
Strategy 1: Continue to reduce the City's crime rate which is trending down.  

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• x 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Continue to grow and expand the Police Department’s crime analysis and mapping initiative 
through technological enhancements. 

• Continue the Department’s efforts to reduce drug crimes in high-risk areas through targeted 
initiatives. 

• Seek grant funding for equipment and training when grant programs are available. 
 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Ensure development regulations support site and building design to improve public safety and 
employ prevention through design (PtD) principles. 

• Ensure outdoor lighting requirements for public spaces, parking lots and commercial 
developments are sufficient to promote safety without negatively impacting adjacent residential 
property. 

• Ensure adequate funding for the ongoing training and professional development of all police and 
fire personnel. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Reduce domestic violence incidents through assessment of their cause and seek additional staff 
training on responding to domestic and family violence incidents. 

https://computer.howstuffworks.com/how-wireless-mesh-networks-work.htm


Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
16  
 

• Track mental health related incidents to identify need for additional support. 
• Develop a statistically significant community survey to assess the community’s overall perception 

of public safety in Leavenworth. 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Improve the City’s ability to address mental health and addiction directly through staff training 
and/or through partnerships with local agencies. 

• Continue advocating with state and federal officials for making funding for mental health facilities 
a top priority.   

 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Install kiosks in the Justice Center to ensure the electronic police reporting system is accessible to 
more people in the community. 

• Enhance external public safety features on all City facilities, such as lighting, security cameras. 
 

Strategy 2: Improve the City's ability to recruit and retain quality public safety personnel. 

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• x 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Update Fire Department and Police Department hiring process to be more efficient and attractive 
to the current generation of candidates entering the workforce (Millennias, Gen Z). 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Adopt pay plan for the City's public safety personnel that is competitive with departments In 
surrounding communities. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Develop partnership with local schools to develop career/tech programs to expose students to 
police and fire careers. 

 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• Support the development of quality workforce housing, recreation, culture and entertainment 
amenities and other quality of life factors that help attract and retain quality workforce, including 
public safety personnel and their families. 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
17  

 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 
Strategy 3: Continue to build better relationships between the City's police officers and the 
community they serve.  

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• x 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Continue cultivating trust between the community and the police department through 
community engagement efforts and transparency. 

• Leverage technology to increase outreach efforts for people who cannot participate in 
engagement activities in person. 

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Ensure adequate funding to support the Police Department’s Community Policing efforts. 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Develop a statistically significant community survey to assess the community’s satisfaction with 
the City’s police and fire services. 

• Conduct annual resident satisfaction survey to better understand residents' level of satisfaction 
or dissatisfaction with city services as well as their priorities for improvement. 

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Utilize results from community survey to develop new programs or services that improve the 
relationship between police and the community. 

• Conduct regular City Commission and Emergency Responder listening sessions with residents. 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
18  
 

 

Strategy 4: Continue providing high quality fire protection and emergency medical services.  

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• x 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Seek grand funding for equipment and training when grant programs are available. 
 
Plan Development 

• Develop a strategic plan for the Fire Department. 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Develop and implement department policies consistent with ISO 2 training requirements. 
• Ensure the Department is prepared to maintain its ISO 2 rating. 

 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• Continue to assess factors Impacting response times to Increase efficiency and bring Fire 
Department response tim es closer to the NFPA standard for accredited agencies.  

 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• Update the International Fire Code each three-year cycle. 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Replace Fire Station No. 3. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
19  

 
 

Recreation & Leisure 
 
Goal 1: Create a community that celebrates, welcomes and supports recreational amenities. 

• How do we create a community that celebrates, welcomes and supports recreational amenities? 
• What are our current recreational events and amenities? 
• Which recreational events should we offer or expand? 
• What recreational amenities, spaces and facilities are needed? 

 
Recommendation: Continue to maintain and increase options for recreation and leisure.  
 
Context 
Parks have been a part of the American landscape since 1634, when Boston created the country's first 
park, Boston Common. In the beginning, the rise of planned green space centered around major cities 
such as New York City. Today, cities build parks of all sizes and shapes for a variety of purposes and uses. 
These variations achieve three essential values: health and environmental benefits, economic value, and 
social importance. Millions of acres of land in the United States are dedicated to local, state and national 
parks. These spaces are vital to communities.  
 
Parks... 

• encourage active lifestyles and reduce health costs 
• strengthen local economies and create job opportunities and investment 
• make cities more resilient through flood mitigation and cost-sharing 
• increase community engagement and reduce crime 
• help clean the air and improve public health 
• are a tool for cities to achieve equity goals and connect people through green space 

 
Havens Park 
The Leavenworth Parks and Recreation Department is responsible for more than 25 parks, an aquatic 
center, and the Riverfront Community Center. Parks Maintenance staff manages more than 40 properties 
ranging from 98–424 acres. The first dog park in the City was funded by private donations and opened in 
2010 near the VA Medical Center. Leavenworth's proximity 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
20  
 

to Kansas City provides professional sports experiences such as baseball, football, soccer, hockey, and 
racing. 
Insight 
Unless required by cities, green space is often left out of new developments. An open-space and 
recreation ordinance or parkland dedication are ways to make sure park land is included in development 
plans. Leavenworth does not currently have such an ordinance, but at one point it did. Cities enact this 
regulation for several reasons, including the preservation of open space, maintaining community 
character, providing non-commercial recreational opportunities, protecting natural resource areas, or 
maintaining agricultural use. In most cases, the ordinance requires that all residential developments 
provide a fully equipped public park or make a payment-in-lieu of the required park. These regulations 
vary by city.  
 
Benefits of this ordinance include: 

• Energy Conservation: Recreational areas provided through Parkland Dedication and Fee-In-Lieu 
Ordinances inherently conserve energy by encouraging efficient land use, reducing the reliance 
on vehicles to access recreational areas, and by creating opportunities for walkable activities 
based on Smart Growth principles (i.e., mix of land uses, compact building design, range of 
housing, walkable neighborhoods, preservation of open space, strengthen development, 
transportation options, strategic development, and stakeholder collaboration). 

• Recreational Opportunities: The design stage creates recreational areas and opportunities for 
subdivisions and land developments. Design flexibility is potentially most significant. 

• Reduced Reliance on Public Expenditures: Reduction of public expenditures for recreational 
facilities.  

• Additional Funding Potential: Fee-In-Lieu ordinances can generate funds to match other grant 
sources. 

• Flexibility: Fee-In-Lieu can be used to meet recreational needs in areas where dedicated land may 
not be practical.  

 
Leavenworth currently has one trail 
south of Downtown that is approximately 
1.4 miles long. Nearly 2,320 households 
and 5,370 people live within a half mile 
of this trail. Other trails exist in Haven 
Memorial park to the west and Veterans 
Administrative Park to the south. The 
Mid-America Regional Council (MARC) 
proposed a network of 1,440 miles of 
interconnected trails throughout the 
region to connect communities and 
provide health, transportation and 
economic benefits. MARC proposed two 
trails to improve connections to 
Leavenworth's existing trail system. One 
would be a rail-to-trail conversion from 
the City’s southeast corner to its 
northwest corner. 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
21  

 
 
 
 
 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
22  
 

 
Programming and Facilities 
The City of Leavenworth works closely with the Leavenworth Unified School District 453 and shares 
facilities for some programming. Its recommended that members of the public register and make 
reservations if they want to use ball fields. 
 
Other programs and venues: 

• Legacy Tree Program 
• Recreation Activity Scholarship Program 
• Haymarket Square 
• Historic Performing Arts Center 
• Riverfront Community Center 
• Adopt-a-Park 

                                                                                                                                           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The STAR Community Rating System builds a framework for cities to set goals, measure progress, and 
improve local communities. Working within this framework, the public parkland objectives measure four 
different outcomes. The fourth outcome states that 90% of households should be located within three 
miles of off-road trail access. Reference the graphic below to learn where Leavenworth stands related to 
the rest of the measurable outcomes for parkland. 
 
 

STAR Community Rating System: Public Parkland Measurable Outcomes 

Outcome 1: Acreage— Provide ample parkland based on population density as follows: 

• High: 6.8 acres per 1,000 residents 
• Intermediate-High: 7.3 acres per 1,000 residents 
• Intermediate-Low: 13.5 acres per 1,000 residents > Leavenworth has 11.8 acres per 1,000 

residents. 
• Low: 20.3 acres per 1,000 residents 

Outcome 2: Proximity— Demonstrate that housing units are located within a 1⁄2-mile walking distance 
of public parkland based on population density as follows: 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
23  

• High or Intermediate-High: 85% or greater 
• Intermediate-Low or Low: 70% or greater  
• Leavenworth has 47% of housing within a ½-mile walking distance. 

Outcome 3: Connectivity  

• Demonstrate that 90% of households are located within three miles of off-road trail access  

Outcome 4: Use and Satisfaction 

• Option A: Demonstrate that 66% or more of surveyed residents visit a park at least once each 
year 

• Option B: Demonstrate that 66% or more of surveyed residents respond favorably to the 
quality of the community’s public park system  

 

 
Wollman Aquatic Center 
 
 
Trends & Foresight 
 
COVID-19 has tested the resiliency of not only our country, but the entire world. The situation has shed 
light on existing inequities, such as access to high-quality parks. Open space and parks improve mental 
health, provide physical fitness opportunities, and facilitate social cohesion and spiritual wellness. 
Research shows that looking at trees and green spaces provides positive psychological benefits. 
Integrating green elements into traditional grey infrastructure can reduce stress, decrease respiratory 
and cardiovascular disease, and improve concentration. Incorporating nature in urban design contributes 
to the mental and physical well-being in a community. Utrecht, Netherlands, has applied this principle for 
more than 10 years with noticeable benefits. The city increased its green space per household by 24 
percent between 2009–14, and Utrecht’s additional trees improve the aesthetic and appeal of streets, 
while making hot days more comfortable for pedestrians. 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
24  
 

 
The National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) identified these top trends for 2019: 

1. Recycling 
a. The profitability of recycling is over, which may have unknown effects of Parks and Rec 

programming and messaging. 
2. Opioid Abuse in Parks 

a. For a third year in the row, opioid abuse ranks as a growing trend in parks. This epidemic 
is leading to design, programming, maintenance and public safety changes. 

3. Technology 
a. Beacon Counters – Bluetooth-enabled devices detect a person's presence through a 

cellphone signal as a means to count park usage.  
b. Georeferencing – uses RFID or GPS to locate people in more extensive areas. 
c. Drones – recreational drones monitor park visitors, survey fire-prone landscapes and 

chart the spread of invasive species  
4. eSports 

a. Parks and rec agencies will host eSports tournaments combined with physical activities to 
draw more young people. 

5. Funding 
a. Rising investments in state and local infrastructure indicate parks and rec agencies may 

receive increased funding (this could change due to COVID-19). 
6. Animal Yoga 

a. Yoga with a variety of animals such as dogs, cats, goats, and now pigs are hitting parks 
and rec agencies. 

7. Dog Parks 
a. Fastest growing type of park in the country. 

8. Multifunctional Parks & Facilities 
a. Existing parks and parks facilities incorporate consolidated governmental functions and 

services such as libraries, health services, social services, intergenerational programs, 
cemeteries and afterschool programs. 

9. Gender Neutral Identification 
a. Local governments are altering signage on enrollment forms and bathroom facilities to 

be more inclusive of members of the LGBTQ+ community. 
10. Outdoors to Indoors 

a. Indoor commercial recreation such as trampoline centers, climbing facilities, and multi-
sports bubbles with turf-play areas for baseball, lacrosse, football, soccer, and other field 
sports are growing.  

 
 
Strategy 1: Increase green and open space.   

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• x 

 
Practice Improvements 

•  
 
Plan Development 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
25  

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• Develop open-space and recreation ordinance. 
• Require dedicated green space and trail connections in new subdivisions and land for the cost of 

their long-term maintenance.  
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Develop parks throughout the community to be within a 10-minute walk of existing and new 
neighborhoods.  

 
 
Strategy 2: Increase resident and visitor participation and community events.    

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• Encourage volunteerism among kids to develop organizational and leadership skills 
• Emphasize kid’s involvement in extracurriculars to reduce negative and illegal behaviors.  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Create a marketing plan to increase awareness of parks and recreation programs.  
• Streamline registration, reservation, and payment process for Parks and Recreation.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
26  
 

Enforcement & Incentives 
• x 

 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• x 
 

Strategy 3: Increase resident and visitor use of parks and recreation amenities.   

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• Encourage volunteerism among kids to develop organizational and leadership skills.  
• Emphasize kid’s involvement in extracurriculars to reduce negative and illegal behaviors 

 
Practice Improvements 

• Create a marketing plan to increase awareness of parks and recreation programs.  
• Streamline registration, reservation, and payment process for Parks and Recreation.  

 
Plan Development 

• x 
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• x 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• x 
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

•  
 

Strategy 4: Increase equitable access and proximity to parks and recreation amenities. 

Local Actions:  

Education & Outreach 
• Explore youth arts, culture and recreation after-school opportunities.  



Leavenworth 2030 Comprehensive Plan    DRAFT                                                                                          Page | 
27  

 
Practice Improvements 

• Seek out grant program opportunities to provide funding for future programs.  
 
Plan Development 

• Develop a Parks and Recreation Master Plan.  
 
Policy & Code Adjustment 

• x 
 
Partnership & Collaboration 

• Support partnerships to continue increased use of Havens Park.  
• Partner with St. Mary's University to explore opportunities to share arts, cultural and recreational 

facilities.  
• Enhance the partnerships with Leavenworth School District 453 to improve recreation 

opportunities for all youth. 
 
Inventory, Assessment or Survey 

• x 
 
Enforcement & Incentives 

• x 
 
Programs or Services 

• Update and improve amenities at less used parks to spur growth and use.  
 
Facilities or Infrastructure Improvements 

• Continue to maintain all existing park and recreation facilities to continue to provide quality 
service to Leavenworth residents.  

 



Future Land Use

Future Land Use
	 Single Family Residential
	 Multi-Family Residential
	 Commercial
	 Mixed Use
	 Industrial
	 Public/Semi-Public
	 Conservation/Open Space	
	 Parks

LEAVENWORTH 2030
First City, Future Forward

Source: City of Leavenworth, KS 2020

Eisenhower RdEisenhower Rd

Limit St

Shawnee St

S 4th St
S 4th St

N
 4

th
 St

N
 4

th
 St

1
0

th
 A

ve
1

0
th

 A
ve

N
 1

0
th

 St

N
 2

0
th

 St

S 2
0

th
 St

S 2
0

th
 St

Spruce St

Missouri River

M
isso

u
ri R

iver

April 2021



Downtown Future Land Use LEAVENWORTH 2030
First City, Future Forward

Cherokee St

Delaware St

Shawnee St

S 4
th St

S E
splanade St

S 7
th St

N
 6

th St

N
 3

rd St

N
 B

roadw
ay St

Source: City of Leavenworth, KS, 2020

March 2021

Future Land Use
	 Single Family Residential
	 Multi-Family Residential
	 Commercial
	 Mixed Use
	 Industrial
	 Public/Semi-Public
	 Conservation/Open Space
	 Parks
	 Vacant/Undeveloped
















